
09011990

soa

SEC Mall process%ng

SeettOn

JUL QB Z009

WastiingtO DC
110

one
NETWORKS

2008 ANNUAL REPORT



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON D.C 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

OR

Lii TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 000-30865

SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

DELAWARE 02-0493372

State or other jurisdiction of I.R.S Employer

incorporation or organization
Identification No

One Federal St Billerica Massachusetts 01821

Address of principal executive offices Zip Code

Registrants telephone number including area code 978 715-2300

Former name former address and former fiscal year if changed since last report None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Common Stock $.0001 Par Value NASDAQ Global Market

Title of Class Name of exchange on which listed

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities

Act Yes No jj

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the

Exchange Act Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to

file such reports and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes LI No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein

and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by

reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or

smaller reporting company See definition of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in

Rule 2b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the

Exchange Act Yes No

As of June 30 2008 the aggregate market value of the registrants common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant

was approximately $56400000 based on the closing price of theregistrants Common Stock on June 30 2008 of $3.83 per

share

The number of shares outstanding of the registrants $.0001 par value Common Stock as of March 2009 was

14866870

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Parts Into Which

Document
Incorporated

Proxy Statement for the registrants 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders Proxy Statement Part II Item Part Ill



SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART
ITEM BUSINESS

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
ITEM PROPERTIES

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MA1TERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

ITEM SELECFED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

ITEM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING

AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

PART III 61

ITEM 10 61

ITEM II 61

ITEM 12

61

ITEM 13 61

ITEM 14 61

ITEM 15 61

PART II

ITEM

11

21

21

21

23

24

24

26

27

34

35

58

58

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

SIGNATURES 65



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Soapstone Networks Inc referred to as Soapstone Soapstone Networks we our us and the company is

developer of resource and service control software On March 19 2008 the company changed its name from

Avici Systems Inc to Soapstone Networks Inc The company was founded as provider of core router products

and in 2007 and 2008 transitioned to being developer of emerging software-based service and control solutions

for service providers next generation networks As of December 31 2008 the company had completely exited

the router business The companys operations are now solely focused on developing and marketing its

Soapstone Provider Network Controller PNCTM framework The Soapstone PNC framework is designed to help

service providers and enterprises connect their physical networking infrastructure to Next Generation Network

NGN software frameworks and deploy services across their networks by providing multi-vendor software-

based service control plane

Soapstone Networks is developing resource and service control software that is designed to automate the

service lifecycle for carriers and large enterprises Unlike traditional solutions that constrain service innovation

and growth we believe our solution will enable customers to evolve their network and service offerings

independently by bringing centralized control to transport and separating services from the underlying transport

technologies The Soapstone solution is intended to accelerate service deployment and management by providing

state of the art provisioning monitoring and repair network operations support network fault to service

correlation Service Level Agreement SLA monitoring performance optimization and planning software We

plan to provide comprehensive common control framework for various technologies including Carrier Ethernet

multi protocol label switching MPLS Optical and Integrated Optical Ethernet During the third quarter of

2008 the Company made multi-vendor dynamic control plane commercially available to the Provider

Backbone Transport PBT market Additional products
and related features functions and supported platforms

and technologies are currently in the research and development stage

We are pursuing sales and marketing of the PNC directly through our field organization as well as

indirectly through distribution partners that may include network equipment providers resellers system

integrators and Operations Support Systems OSS vendors

During 2008 we completed the transition from our historical Avici router product business to our Soapstone

business including the change of name the change of NASDAQ ticker symbol from AVCI to SOAP and the

expiration of all support services for our historical core router products Although all of the companys revenue

to date has come from the router business the company has now exited the manufacture sale and support of its

core router products and expects no further revenue from this business which is disclosed as discontinued

operations

On February 19 2009 we announced that we have engaged an investment banker to assist the Company in

exploring strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There can be no

assurance that the exploration Of strategic alternatives will result in any agreements or transactions or that if

completed any agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys strategic

review is underway but no timetable has been set for its completion

Soapstone was incorporated in Delaware in 1996 under the name Avici Systems Inc and held its initial

public offering in July 2000 We are headquartered in Billerica Massachusetts At December 31 2008 we had

100 full time employees In February 2009 we announced plan to realign our cost structure and reduce our

labor and labor related costs Please see note to the consolidated financial statements



Industry Background

Service providers are challenged by the radical shifts in services and technology that have occurred as

networks continue to evolve to support new business requirements The need to grow top line revenue has caused

service providers to focus on business opportunities in managed services such as virtual private networks or

VPNs and virtual private LAN services or VPLS connection-oriented services i.e. voice over IP and video

over IP IPTV and Internet and wholesale services These services are layered over different physical

infrastructures with varying constraints resulting in mismatch between the services carriers want to provide

and the capabilities of their physical networks Service providers would like to facilitate top-level construction of

new services and be able to reuse network components and infrastructure This requires that applications utilize

common physical infrastructure and service providers be able to offer network virtualization into each of these

areas Underlying these trends is the constant need to reduce operational costs and capital expenditures Service

providers are also challenged by the complexity associated with supporting wide range of equipment from

multiple vendors encompassing multiple technologies This is further complicated by the need to integrate

various networks following carrier consolidation

Next Generation Network NGN Architecture

The International Telecommunications Unions or ITUs standard for Next Generation Network NGN
architecture was designed to enable delivery of wide range of telecommunication services over single packet-

based infrastructure This new infrastructure is organized into building blocksa service/application layer

where the majority of the services are defined control layer which represents
software

system such as IP

Multimedia Subsystem IMS and transport layer responsible for the physical transport
of data as well as some

basic networking software

All three layers use common components as represented by Operational and Business Support Systems

OSSIBSS NON uses multiple broadband Quality of Service Q0S enabled transport technologies and makes

service-related functions independent from the choice of underlying transport technology As result this

architecture frees service providers from the constraints and costs of an architecture in which each service would

have its own dedicated or overlay network commonly referred to as stovepipe architecture The business

rationale for the transformation is simple It is difficult and costly to add another stovepipe The requirement to

handle any service anywhere any access means that the stovepipe approach is not practical since the number

of services and access types creates complexity that would cause such an approach to fail To keep the

complexity and operational costs in check the number of network platforms needs to be reduced otherwise

stovepipes are recreated between the service and transport layers

The result of this new NON framework is the ability to construct new services allow the potential for unbundled

services at each layer and move to new network architectures To enable the new NON framework flexible software

driven framework is required to deliver what is needed in both the service and transport layers This flexible

framework can be achieved by using an external software controller to centralize transport controls hiding the

complexity in existing distributed control layer mechanisms routing and signaling while still retaining

interoperability ax the data plane This is new control plane paradigm that reduces the interoperability requirements to

data planes and accelerates the adoption of newer equipment into existing networks with the control plane layer sitting

between the services/application layer and the transport layer expressing the needs of the service to that underlying

transport network in effect virtualizing the underlying transport network Network virtualization allows service

providers to leverage common Application Programming Interfaces APIs to enable multiple services to be mapped to

common underlying transport network while remaining agnostic to the technology or the vendor

Service providers adopting an NON architecture can use service control plane framework capable of

interoperating with multiple technologies and components from multiple vendors to accelerate new service

development while automating network operations The service control plane is designed to bring centralized

control to the transport network and act as the means to facilitate both the centralized business transaction model

for services and the fully decentralized transport model



The Move to Carrier Ethernet

In order to provide predictable service creation and delivery while managing costs carriers have leveraged

well-known relatively low-cost base technologies specifically Ethernet with additional capabilities added to

network equipment and software Most of the work required to turn Ethernet into carrier grade technology is in

the Operations Administration Maintenance and Provisioning OAMP area Carrier Ethernet is derived from

Ethernet but with added OAMP capabilities Carrier Ethernet provides circuit-like behavior and predictability

to services through the addition of management functions at the data plane and through the use of separate

external control plane for service automation By adding only the control components required for service

predictability and maintaining Ethernet hardware economics Carrier Ethernet becomes building block for both

enterprise and carrier environments

Carrier Ethernet is an opportunity for service providers to position their services to significant advantage To

the carriers retail customer Ethernet is convenient familiar and cost-effective packet-transport technology To

the carrier serving that customer Carrier Ethernet is an opportunity to offer simple and useful baseline upon

which tiers of value-added services ranging from Internet services to IPTV can be built When coupled with

Next Generation Network architectures Carrier Ethernet has the potential to enable innovative new business and

operational models for carrier and enterprise networks

Strategy

Our strategy has been to focus on developing solutions that are designed to manage the complexities

between carrier service offerings and applications and the underlying transport equipment and technologies The

Soapstone solutions are based on key industry standards including Service-Oriented Architecture SOA the

TeleManagement Forum TM Forum International Telecommunications Union ITU and Next Generation

Networks NGN among others and utilize open APIs between the network and OSS such as Multi-Technology

Operations System Interface MTOSI Soapstone is building multi-vendor software-based network control

plane to take advantage of the opportunities created by the emergence of Carrier Ethernet the need for service

automation and the adoption of next generation network architectures

The following are key elements of our Soapstone strategy

Develop and Market the Soapstone Products

We believe that carrier networks are undergoing significant transformations as they migrate to the NGN
model In order to increase their service offerings and grow revenues while reducing costs multiple networks and

devices must be supported at the lowest cost possible We believe that the complexity of todays networks creates

need for common control framework solution for Carrier Ethernet MPLS Optical and Integrated Optical

Ethernet as well as seamless service migration among these networks We are developing the Soapstone solution

to deliver network abstraction layer that decouples the control of services from the network infrastructure

Selectively Pursue Sales Channels for Soapstone

The Soapstone solution will be targeted at the service provider and large enterprise customer markets We
will utilize distribution partners to capture new customer opportunities Distribution partners will include

network equipment providers system integrators resellers and OSS software vendors We have augmented our

indirect channels with direct sales and field operations team to provide Soapstone specific sales and sales

engineering expertise

Expand the Soapstone Solution to Encompass Broad Array of Network Equipment

cornerstone of the Soapstone service control framework is that it is designed to interoperate with

equipment from multiple vendors Our strategy is to interoperate with major network equipment components



without limiting the customers choice of or competing with equipment vendors By delivering an external

multi-vendor control plane Soapstone enables carrier and enterprise customers to deploy best-in-class

heterogeneous networks We will continue to add network equipment provider partners capitalizing on our

unique position as an independent multi-vendor multi-technology dynamic control plane We work closely with

our equipment partners to ensure interoperability between various hardware vendors and the Soapstone service

control plane solution

Expand the Soapstone Solution to Support Multiple Network Technologies

We have initially targeted the Soapstone PNC framework on Carrier Ethernet which has seen continued

investment by service providers even in this most challenging macro-economic environment We released our

PBT product multi-vendor dynamic control plane product in the third quarter
of 2008 and are now focused on

developing our Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers IEEE Provider Backbone Bridge PBB and

IEEE 802.1 ad QinQ products for 2009 We are working to expand the capabilities of the Soapstone resource

and service control software to cover MPLS Optical and Integrated Optical Ethernet networks as they all will

benefit from the advantages of an external control plane solution

Extend the apahilities of the Soapstone Control Frame%tork to Automate Service Lfecvcle

Finally we will extend the PNC framework with new products to automate the service lifecycle including

provisioning monitoring and repair operations support network fault to service correlation performance

optimization and planning software as well as to provide advanced features in terms of path computation

reliability customization and programmability

In addition on February 19 2009 we announced that we have engaged an investment banker to assist the

Company in exploring strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There

can be no assurance that the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in
any agreements or transactions or

that if completed any agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys

strategic review is underway but no timetable has been set for its completion

Products

During the third quarter of 2008 the Company made its multi-vendor dynamic control plane product

commercially available to the PBT market Additional products and related features functions and supported

platforms and technologies for the PNC are currently in the research and development stage

The Soapstone Networks PNC framework is designed to automate the service tifecycle by providing state of

the art provisioning monitoring and repair operations support network fault to service correlation performance

optimisation and planning software to carrier and enterprise customers When fully developed the PNC is

expected to bring centralized control to transport by providing comprehensive resource and service control

framework for various technologies including Carrier Ethernet MPLS and Optical as well as Integrated Optical

Ethernet technologies By decoupling services from the underlying transport network customers can achieve

maximum flexibility in their choice of technology and equipment vendor The Soapstone PNC bridges the gap

between the centralized transaction model for services and the completely decentralized model that exists for

transport by delivering dynamic centralized control and end-to-end coordination

The ability of the Soapstone Networks PNC framework to support heterogeneous vendor environments and

provide full automation of transport object lifecycle elements planning and resource allocation actis ation of

network equipment fault monitoring and performance monitoring is intended to increase the productivity

performance and effectiveness of carriers network This combined with the simple direct expression of

transport object requirements including web-services interface allows for integration with OSS frameworks



The first modules of the Soapstone PNC which were commercially available in the third quarter of 2008

include the service provisioning monitoring and repair and bridge-and-roll functionality for Carrier Ethernet as

described below We plan to develop and introduce additional capabilities also as described below

Service Provisioning

One of the first applications of the PNC framework is the dynamic provisioning of services across multi-

vendor network In addition to simple best-effort shortest path routing the PNC performs complex path

computations involving variety of constraints and equipment limitations for example bandwidth delay jitter

latency lawful intercept and other constraints dictated by network policy rules Constrained optimization

problems require knowledge of the state of the entire network and are ideally suited to separate dynamic control

plane The PNC uses combination of algorithmic heuristic and rule-based approaches to route each flow

subject to the service constraints and limitations of the network equipment

Service Monitoring and Repair

After network event such as the failure of link node or fiber the network equipment responds in less

than 5Omsec to provide service protection After sub-50msec fail-over on the switch hardware through path

protection capabilities the PNC which has database of the network topology determines which services was

affected by the outage and recreates both primary and secondary path to restore the service and ensure that it

remains protected

Network Maintenance/Operations Bridge-and-Roll

The PNC provides network operations support by making it possible for customers to introduce new

hardware or services seamlessly into network or perform routine maintenance in an automated fashion This

capability enables customers to request the removal of nodes from active service without disruption to services

When node is taken out of service by the customer the PNC notices the affected services and for each service

that is impacted the PNC re-computes paths for services that were locked due to lack of network resources As

with any path selection the service level agreement SLA parameters
such as the Committed Information Rate

CIR of each service are used in the path selection to ensure that the SLA is not violated

Service Level Agreement Monitoring

The PNC will allow each service to be monitored against the SLA requirement for the service Should the

service violate the SLA the PNC will raise an alarm to the services layer

Network Fault to Service Correlation

As events occur in the network it is difficult to correlate the link/node that failed to the services which are

affected by the failure The PNC is positioned through its monitoring of the network topology and over-laid

services to identify network failure determine which services are affected by the outage and raise an alarm to

notify the provider of the event affecting the services

Network Planning

The PNC can monitor and correlate traffic at physical transport and service levels to enable network

planning The PNC has the capability to plan for service activation by reserving bandwidth in advance of the

service usage thus guaranteeing
service availability in the future



Northbound interface

The PNC presents an SOA-based northbound interface to software such as an OSS or external planning

tools The PNC will support multiple simultaneous operating northbound interfaces allowing for external

software agents to control the PNC and establish services query states and monitor alarms The PNC will support

variety of northbound interface types including MTOSI and other OSSIBSS interfaces

Legacy Core Router

The Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of our legacy core router products making its

last shipments in December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008 All of

our revenue recorded historically has been through the product sales and service of such core routing products

As result of our decision to transition away from the legacy products we no longer have the capability of

developing manufacturing or supporting the legacy router products and such business is now considered

discontinued operation and is being reported accordingly

Sales and Marketing

We plan to sell and market our Soapstone products through indirect distribution channels and direct field

sales force Our indirect distribution channels will include system integrators network equipment providers

resellers and OSS vendors

Our marketing activities include direct marketing lead generation advertising website operations public

relations technology conferences and trade shows and solutions development and certification with our partners

through our Soapstone Networks Alliance Partner Program SNAPP

SNAPP Marketing and Strategic Technology Partnerships

SNAPP is designed to provide marketing technology and industry outreach programs to showcase joint

best-in-class solutions to the marketplace Given our strategy to interoperate with multi-vendor and multi-

technology networking equipment and software components of our target customers networks our SNAPP

program is critical toward driving the adoption of our solutions SNAPP partners have the opportunity to certify

products with the Soapstone Networks PNC framework and to engage in marketing education and co-branding

activities training and solutions development

Through collaborative relationship with our industry partners SNAPP accelerates the introduction of new

features and solutions to customers Soapstones strategy is to work with our partners and customers to remove

the least common denominator effect where the customer cannot deploy new features until all vendors in the

network have implemented an interoperable solution SNAPP is also designed to strengthen the marketing and

development initiatives among Soapstone and its partners

Customer Service and Support

Soapstone

We will offer tiered customer support programs depending upon the service needs of our customers

deployments Product support includes Internet access to technical content as well as telephone access to

technical support personnel Primary product support for customers will be through our indirect distribution

partners and we will provide back-up support

Legacy Core Router

We provided service and support through our support organization to our primary customer ATT for our

legacy core router products through December 31 2008 when our service and support obligations to ATT
expired We no longer provide service and support of our legacy core router products



Customers

While our PBT product has been available since the third quarter of 2008 and it has been in the lab of Tier

carrier since the fourth quarter 2008 we do not yet have customer for it The PBT market has not emerged as

we had planned which has had an adverse effect on the market for the initial Soapstone PNC product We have

now focused our development sales and marketing efforts on other Carrier Ethernet technologies including PBB

and QinQ

We will market our Soapstone products globally to service providers and large enterprises We will market

and sell our Soapstone products through indirect distribution channels augmented by field sales force Our

Soapstone products are targeted to broad base of service provider and enterprise customers

ATT was the primary customer of our legacy core router products and related services As stated above

the Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products making its last shipments in

December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008 We no longer expect core

router product sales to ATT or any other customer nor are we currently resourced to resume core router sales

or service Historical activities associated with our legacy core router operations are reported as discontinued

operations

Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to our Soapstone business To this end we

have assembled team of skilled software engineers with expertise in various fields including networking

applications NGN software frameworks OSS software high availability and quality assurance We invest

significant time and financial resources into the development of our products We plan to expand our product

offerings and solutions capabilities in the future and to dedicate resources to these continued research and

development efforts Research and development expenses were $17.4 million and $7.1 million for the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively In February 2009 we announced plan to realign our cost

structure and reduce our labor and labor related costs which we expect would reduce our research and

development costs in 2009

Competition

With respect to our Soapstone products we believe we will compete primarily on the basis of offering

resource and service control software solutions that address the need for multi-vendor integration and that

provide automation and flexibility for service rollouts We believe principal competitive factors in our market

include scaling performance ability to deploy easily into existing networks ability to quickly introduce new

features and carrier-grade reliability

The competition in the network infrastructure and integration services market is intense and includes small

number of very large companies who have historically dominated the industry Many of these companies have

greater selling and marketing technical manufacturing financial and other resources more customers greater

market recognition and more established relationships and alliances in the industry

We believe we will compete indirectly against legacy and alternative technologies and network architectures

promoted by network equipment vendors including these vendors integrated control/data plane solutions In the

future we expect that we may face direct competition from new market entrants as well as from new product

introductions from major networking equipment and software vendors Our primary competitors include

integrated data and control plane solutions from companies such as Cisco Systems and Juniper Networks We

may also face competition from companies with point products within the service lifecycle management market

We may experience reluctance by our prospective customers to replace or expand their current solutions which

may be supplied by competitors with our Soapstone products as Soapstone is substitute for traditional

equipment-based control planes As software vendor Soapstone does not directly compete with any of our

equipment partners or OSS software suppliers



Our ahilit to sustain competitive advantage depends on our ability achieve continuous technological

innovation adapt to the evolving needs of our target customers and interoperate with the multi-vendor multi-

technology transport equipment and OSS software products in our target customers networks

Intellectual Property

We presently have several patents granted in the United States and several United States and foreign patent

applications pending All of the issued patents and all but one of the patent applications relate to our historical

core router product business We have one patent application pending for our Soapstone product

Our success and ability to compete are dependent on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary

aspects of our technology and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others We rely on

combination of patent protection copyrights trademarks trade secret laws contractual restrictions on disclosure

and other methods to protect the proprietary aspects of our technology

Legal protections afford only limited protection for our technology We cannot be certain that patents will

be granted based on our pending or any other applications or that even if issued the patents will adequately

protect our technology We seek to protect our source code for our software documentation and other written

materials under trade secret and copyright laws and we seek to limit disclosure of our intellectual property by

requiring employce consultants and any third-party with access to our proprietary information to execute

confidentiality agreements with us

While we rely on patent copyright trade secret and trademark law to protect our technology we also

believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel new product developments and

enhancements and reliable product support are essential to establishing and maintaining technology leadership

position

Manufacturing

Historically we outsourced the manufacture and assembly of our core router products to contract

manufacturers We no longer manufacture and sell our legac core router products

Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 100 full time employees Our future success will depend in part on our

ability to attract retain and motivate highly qualified personnel for whom competition is intense Our employees

are not represented by any labor union We believe our relations with our employees are good Additionally as of

December 31 2008 we utilized on-shore and off-shore contract labor approximating 52 full time equivalent

employees In February 2009 we announced plan to realign our cost structure and reduce our labor and labor

related costs

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

See section of Note to Consolidated Financial Statements at Item incorporated herein by reference

Additional Information

Our Internet address is www.soapstonenerworks.com On the Investor Relations section of our web site

located at www.soapstonenetworks.com we post the following filings as soon as reasonably practicable after

they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission our annual report on

Form 10-K our quarterly reports on Form I0-Q our current reports on Form 8-K our proxy statement on Form

4A related to our annual stockholders meeting and any amendments to those reports or statements filed or

furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 All such filings on our

Investor Relations web site are available free of charge
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Our company business and operations are subject to number of risks and uncertainties We discuss

material risks and uncertainties below To the extent any of these risks and uncertainties materialize our

business results of operation and financial condition would suffer You should carefully consider these risk

factors in evaluating our company

We may experience difficulties identifying analyzing and consummating strategic alternatives and any

such alternatives may not lead to the achievement of desired results

On February 19 2009 we announced that we had engaged an investment banker to assist the Company in

exploring strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value The strategic options

we may consider could include variety of different business and financial actions including but not limited to

combinations with or sale to another entity the sale or spin off of certain assets strategic partnerships and joint

ventures the acquisition of complementary businesses technologies or product lines investments in new

businesses extraordinary cash dividend or distribution recapitalization stock repurchases equity or debt

financings or other alternatives Any strategic decision will involve an evaluation and judgment of the risks

uncertainties and present challenges in implementation and integration As result any such business

arrangement or transaction may not lead to increased shareholder value In addition any strategic decision could

lead to non-recurring or other charges The process of evaluating strategic alternative even if not

consummated will require the commitment of internal resources Such activities require great deal of

management time and attention as well as expense and likely distraction from other activities of the business

which could jeopardize our ability to be successful in our ongoing operations Moreover our sales and marketing

efforts may be adversely affected by this process as customers delay or forego buying decisions relating to the

Soapstone products

As part of our announced process we will consider acquisitions of or significant investments in companies

products or technologies in complementary and other markets although no acquisitions or investments are

currently pending To date we have had no experience completing acquisitions or managing the integration of

acquisitions Accordingly we cannot guarantee you that we will be able to successfully complete or integrate any

business products technologies or personnel that we might acquire or seek to acquire in the future and our

failure to do so could harm our business Any acquisitions of businesses technologies products or services may
not generate sufficient revenues to offset the associated costs of the acquisitions or may result in other adverse

effects including without limitation issuances of equity securities to pay for acquisitions which may be dilutive

to existing stockholders

The future success of our Soapstone business depends on the successful development and

commercialization of our Soapstone products which are in development

As result of the discontinuation of our core router business to focus on our Soapstone business we no

longer manufacture sell develop or support our legacy core router products Our future revenue depends on our

ability to successfully develop and market our Soapstone products which are unproven in the market and many
of the features and functions of which are in development To date our operations relating to Soapstone have

consisted primarily of research and product development customer demonstrations and interoperability testing

the establishment of strategic partnerships and preliminary marketing Further development and extensive testing

of our Soapstone products will be required to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability Product

development and launch delays may result from numerous factors including

engineering complexities relating to external equipment realities and internal software limitations

the inability to obtain and maintain experienced and committed partners for product testing

integration and interoperability challenges
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claims of infringement of third-party intellectual property

difficulties hiring and reallocating existing engineering resources and overcoming resource limitations

as result of the transition

slower acceptance or lack of acceptance of Carrier Ethernet and NGN architectures

the timing and level of research and development expenses and

the inability to develop direct and indirect sales channels

Any delay in the development introduction or marketing of our Soapstone products could result in such

products missing the market opportunities related to emerging industry technology In light of the long-term

nature of our projects the nature of technology involved and the other industry factors there can be no assurance

that we will be able to complete successfully the development or marketing and sales of the Soapstone products

Our Soapstone business focuses on the development of limited number of products and our revenue

depends on the successful deployment and enhancements to these products and their commercial success

Our research and development efforts are focused on the Soapstone Networks Provider Network Controller

PNC framework We anticipate that substantially all of our revenue will be derived from this family of

products as well as additional related products As most of our Soapstone products are currently in development

they have not been fully tested in customer networks under operational conditions We need to complete the

development of the full features and functionality of the PNC and over time additional modules successfully

launch these solutions and create enhancements to the features and functionality of these solutions to meet target

customer requirements Any failure in the development launch and continuing enhancements to these products

could adversely affect our future revenue

The market for the Soapstone products it new and evolving and our business will be adversely affected if

the market does not develop as we expect or develops more slowly than we expect

We expect that new network developments such as the adoption of Carrier Ethernet as well as the need for

carriers to organize around business opportunities in managed services such as virtual private network VPN
virtual private LAN services VPLS connection-oriented services such as Voice over IP and video over IP

IPTV Internet and wholesale services will require the use of common physical infrastructure and network

virtualization into each of these areas We also expect that in connection with the development of the market for

Carrier Ethernet networks the requirement for an external control plane that allows Ethernet to be used as

carrier class transport network will present market opportunity for our Soapstone products Although our

Soapstone products are being developed to operate within any network architecture based on any protocol the

success of our initial Soapstone products depends on our ability to take advantage of the new and expanding

Carrier Ethernet network However the Carrier Ethernet market is competing with other network technologies

such as multi protocol label switching MPLS which are favored by dominant companies in the industry Our

first commercially released Soapstone PNC product addressed the provider backbone transport PBT portion of

the Carrier Ethernet market The PBT market has not emerged as we had planned which has had an adverse

effect on the market for the initial Soapstone PNC product We have now focused our development sales and

marketing efforts on other Carrier Ethernet technologies If the market for these Carrier Ethernet networks does

not develop in the way that we expect or if the industry does not adopt Carrier Ethernet or adopts it more slowly

than we expect the anticipated market for our products will be significantly reduced our growth opportunity

may be limited and we may not be able to sell our products in any significant volume Further new network

technologies may emerge which may gamer greater
market

acceptance reduce the effectiveness of our control

plane solutions and render our products obsolete
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The recent financial crisis and current uncertainty in global economic and industry conditions could

negatively affect the developing market for our products as well as our business results of operations and

financial condition

The recent financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial markets generally and the current

uncertainty in global economic conditions have resulted in tightening in the credit markets low level of

liquidity in many financial markets and extreme volatility in credit equity and fixed income markets

Additionally the telecommunications products and service provider markets are under severe economic stress

There could be number of follow-on effects from these economic developments on our business including

insolvency of key partners resulting in sales delays inability of customers to obtain credit to finance purchases of

our products and/or customer insolvencies decreased customer confidence decreased customer capital budgets

and the delay of the market developing for the Companys products

We are uncertain as to how long current unfavorable global economic and industry conditions will persist

and the magnitude of their effects on our business and results of operations If these conditions persist or further

weaken our business market development and results of operations could be materially adversely affected

We have limited operating history on our Soapstone products and your basis for evaluating us given

our transition away from core router sales is similarly limited

Although we announced our intention to transition away from core router manufacturing development and

sales in April of 2007 we continued to derive substantial revenue from end-of-life core router product sales

through the end of 2007 and revenue from the support of such products through the end of 2008 We have not yet

had customer sale of our Soapstone products Accordingly we have limited meaningful historical financial data

upon which to base projected revenue and planned operating expenses and upon which investors may evaluate

our prospects and us The revenue and income potential of our Soapstone products is not ascertainable as the

products are in an early stage and the market for our Soapstone products are new and undeveloped Accordingly

any investment in our company involves high degree of risk

Our failure to generate revenue and manage our costs would prevent us from achieving and maintaining

profitability

Although we recorded net income in 2006 and 2007 we had prior to 2006 and again in 2008 incurred

significant losses in each quarterly and annual period since inception As of December 31 2008 we had an

accumulated deficit of $402.4 million

Historically we derived all of our revenue from sales and servicing of our legacy core router products On

April 18 2007 we announced that we were transitioning away from the manufacture sales and development of

core router products We do not expect any revenue from core router product sales and service in 2009 and

beyond We anticipate that any future revenue will be derived from the sales and support of our Soapstone

products which are currently under development and have not been fully tested in customer networks To date

we have invested significant amounts in the development of our Soapstone products and we anticipate that our

development efforts will continue to require significant expenditures substantial portion of which we will make

long before any significant revenue related to these expenditures will be realized We do not expect to reach

profitability in 2009 and may not achieve profitability going forward unless our Soapstone products achieve

commercial success

significant portion of our operating expenses such as personnel and real estate facilities costs is fixed In

addition we bear substantial expenses due to the fact that we are public company with public company
disclosure and compliance obligations As result we will need to generate significant revenue and manage

ongoing costs to achieve profitability If we fail to achieve such revenue levels even if we effectively manage

product development costs material operating losses could result In the future we may never achieve sustained

profitability or consistently generate positive cash flows from operations
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Established iarticipantr in the network infrastructure industry with greater financial and other resources

than ours could influence our target market or offer products similar to ours and we may be unable to

compete effectively

The competition in the network infrastructure and integration services market is intense and includes small

number of very large companies who have historically dominated the industry Many of these companies have

greater selling and marketing technical manufacturing financial and other resources more customers greater

market recognition and more established relationships and alliances in the industry If these companies were to

focus on alternative control plane solutions they may be able to affect the way that the market develops

influence the standards and protocols adopted by the industry develop enhance and expand their competitive

product offerings more quickly adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer

demands devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their offenngs pursue acquisitions and other

opportunities more readily and adopt more aggressive pricing policies Accordingly we may not be able to

compete effectively with these established competitors Smaller companies with narrow focus on utilizing the

latest technologies may also provide significant competition achieve commercial availability of their products

more quickly and/or be more attractive to customers

The success of our Soapstone products is dependent on their acceptance by potential customers and

deployment in their networks and we are unable to accurately gauge demand from our potential customers at

this stage in development

The full features and functionality of our Soapstone products are still under development have not been

fully tested by or integrated into prospective customer networks and we do not have any committed customers

Accordingly the extent of the demand for our products cannot accurately be assessed at this stage The success

of our Soapstone products will be dependent on their acceptance by network service providers and deployment in

their networks We cannot guarantee that our solutions will operate seamlessly with our target customers

network technology or whether these customers will order and commercially deploy our products If our

Soapstone products do not perform as expected do not achieve desired results in customer tests do not interact

seamlessly with customer networks do not contain the capabilities and features required by our customers or if

we are unable to establish brand identity with prospective customers our products may not become widely

accepted and the sales of our products would suffer as result

We expect our sales cycle for our Soapstone products to be lengthy and may involve protracted contract

negotiations resulting in unfavorable terms or conditions or we may expend considerable resources without

resulting revenue

Our target customers are network service providers which may have leverage in negotiating terms and

conditions relating to the purchase of our Soapstone products The decision by prospective customers to purchase

our products is likely to involve lengthy sales cycle with significant evaluation and qualification process

protracted consultation and contract negotiation process as well as extensive product testing for interoperability

and network customization We may sometimes be required to assume contract terms or conditions that are

unfavorable in order to consummate sale Such terms particularly relating to pricing payment terms and the

timing of revenue recognition could negatively affect our revenue potential and increase our susceptibility to

quarterly fluctuations in our results Service providers may ultimately insist upon terms and conditions that we

deem too onerous or not in our best interest Further we do not expect customers to contractually commit to

purchase any products from us until we have successfully demonstrated specific performance criteria The failure

of prospective customers to purchase our products for any reason would seriously harm our ability to build

successful business around our Soapstone products In addition we may expend considerable resources that we

are unable to offset with corresponding revenue
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Our Soapstone products may have errors or defects or may fail to reach level of interoperability

acceptable to our target customers which could result in significantly reduced acceptance of our products by

prospective customers or costly litigation against us

Our Soapstone products are technologically sophisticated and are designed to be deployed as control plane

in complex networks Accordingly our products can be fully tested only when actively deployed Despite

pre-deployment qualification and internal testing our target customers may discover errors or defects or the

products may not operate as expected even after they have been fully deployed In addition our target customers

will require that our products be designed to interface with their existing
networks and services each of which

will have different specifications Our Soapstone products must interface with existing network infrastructure and

the myriad of network service technologies as well as future products in order to meet the requirements of our

customers Because we expect our Soapstone products to be crucial to the networks of our customers any

significant interruption in their service as result of defects in our products or the failure of our products to

interoperate within our customers networks could result in lost profits or damage to these customers These

problems could cause us to incur significant
service and warranty costs divert engineering personnel from

product development efforts and significantly impair our ability to maintain customer relations and attract new

customers Although we expect that our customer contracts will generally contain provisions designed to limit

our exposure to potential product liability claims such as disclaimers of warranties and limitations on liability for

special consequential
and incidental damages court might not enforce limitation on our liability which could

expose us to additional financial loss In addition product liability claim whether successful or not would

likely be time consuming and expensive to resolve and would divert management time and attention Further if

we are unable to fix the errors or other problems that may be identified in full deployment we would likely

experience loss of or delay in revenue and loss of market share and our business and prospects would suffer

Because our products are to be deployed in large and complex networks failure to establish support

infrasfructure and maintain required support levels could seriously harm our business

Our Soapstone products will be deployed in complex networks and our target customers will expect us to

establish comprehensive support infrastructure and maintain the highest standards of customer support to

enable them to maintain necessary
levels of network availability and performance In order to provide this

service and support our support infrastructure must have the capability to provide
service and support wherever

our customer networks are located If we are unable to develop this support infrastructure and provide the

expected levels of support we could experience loss of customers or market share fail to attract new

customers or depending on the negotiated service arrangement be subject to agreement with performance

penalties

We are in the process of developing and expanding our sales force to focus on the sale of Soapstone

products and we may face difficulties in managing our sales strategy and appropriately marketing our

product to our target customer base

We are in the process
of building

field sales force and support organization to sell and support our

Soapstone products and provide customer support Our products require sophisticated technical sales and

customer support team as we anticipate that our product sales cycle will involve educating and providing

information to prospective customers about the use and features of our Soapstone products Our inability to hire

develop and manage our sales force could adversely affect sales of our products

We also plan to sell and market our Soapstone solution through indirect distribution partners including

system integrators equipment manufacturers resellers and OSS partners to help market and sell our products to

broad array of organizations and allow us to leverage our field sales force Our ability to obtain strong

go-to-market distribution partners will significantly impact our ability to sell the Soapstone products to our target

customer base
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Our marketing acti ities include direct marketing lead generation advertising website operations public

relations technology conferences and trade shows and solutions development and certification with our partners

through our SNAPPYU Soapstone Networks Alliance Partner Program There is no guarantee that our marketing

activities will result in sufficient customer acceptance of our Soapstone products

New technologj initiatives such as Soapstone require substantial commitment of resources and are

not certain of ultimate success

New technology initiatives require significant capital expenditures management attention and resources

Our commitment of resources and capital to our Soapstone products or any other new technological concept that

we may decide to pursue in the future means that those resources and capital are unavailable for other activities

and operations Our decision to launch new product such as Soapstone is based on our assessment that

significant opportunity exists in the marketplace however investments in new technology are inherently

speculative particularly in an unproven market Commercial success depends on many factors including

innovation and accurate anticipation of technological and market trends developer support and effective

distribution and marketing In order for our products to compete effectively among other things we must

deliver technologically advanced products that are superior in meeting the needs of carriers promote the market

for that solution and effectively market and sell those products to carriers and indirect channel partners against

established and emerging competitive vendors

There are no assurances that our Soapstone products or any other new technology we may develop will

receive sufficient consumer acceptance and if our products do not develop and grow substantially and achieve

profitability it could have material adverse effect on our growth operating results margins and profitability

Further even if our products initially obtain market acceptance we may not be able to effectively support the

products or successfully respond on timely basis to products introduced into the marketplace by our

competitors

The unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations may adversely affect the trading price of our

common stock

Our quarterly operating results are likely to vary significantly in the future based on number of factors

related to our industry the markets for our products and how we manage our business We have little or no

control over many of these factors and any of these factors could cause the price of our common stock to

fluctuate significantly In addition to the risks discussed elsewhere in this section the following may also

adversely affect the trading price of our common stock

development and deployment of our Soapstone products

the timing of new product launches

the timing and extent of product acceptance by customers

fluctuations and uncertainties in market and industry demands

the sustainability of demand for our Soapstone products

our ability to deliver products within short order timeframes

the timing of customer orders for our products or cancellations of orders

the timing and level of research and development and testing expenses

the distribution channels through which we sell our products

the timing and impact of special charges

general economic conditions
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conditions specific to the network infrastructure industry

introduction of competing products

timing of revenue recognition and deferred revenue

changes in accounting rules such as the requirement to record share-based compensation expense for

employee stock option grants

our ability to recruit and retain key employees especially sales engineering and executive personnel

and

investor perception in general of the desirability of the technology industry from an investment point of

view

In the short term we expect that investments we make in research and development sales and marketing

and customer support related to our Soapstone products will result in quarterly losses and negative cash flow

from operations high percentage of our expenses are and will continue to be fixed in the short term As

result if revenue for particular quarter
is below our expectations for any of the reasons set forth above or for

any other reason we may not be able to proportionately reduce operating expenses for that quarter Accordingly

this revenue shortfall would have disproportionate effect on our expected operating results and could result in

material operating losses for that quarter
which could result in significant variations in our operating results from

quarter to quarter

Due to the foregoing factors we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not

good indication of our future performance You should not rely on our results or growth for any single quarter

as an indication of our future performance It is likely that in some future quarters our operating results may be

below the expectations of financial analysts and investors In this event the price of our common stock may

decline

Our ability to develop market and support products depends on retaining our management team and

attracting and retaining highly qualified individuals in our industiy

Our future success depends on the continued services of our management team which has significant

experience with the data communications telecommunications and Internet infrastructure markets in addition to

relationships with many of the network service providers and business partners on which we may in the future

rely in implementing our business plan The loss of the services of our management team or any key executive

could have significant detrimental effect on our ability to execute our business strategy

Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to identify hire train assimilate and retain highly

qualified engineering sales and marketing managerial support and other personnel The demand and

competition for qualified personnel is high and the recently announced strategic review process may dampen the

Companys ability to hire and retain these highly qualified personnel The loss of the services of any of our key

employees the inability to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring required

personnel particularly engineers could delay product development particularly with respect to our Soapstone

products and negatively impact our ability to sell our products

Our intellectual property protection may be inadequate to protect our propri etaiy rights and we may be

subject to infringement claims that could subject us to significant liability and divert the time and attention of

our management

We regard our products and technology as proprietary We attempt to protect them through combination of

patent protection copyrights trademarks trade secret laws contractual restrictions on disclosure and other

methods These methods may not be sufficient to protect our proprietary rights We cannot be certain that patents
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will be granted on pending or nevh applications or that even if granted the patents will adequately protect our

technology We also generally enter into confidentiality agreements
with our employees consultants and

customers and generally control access to and distribution of our documentation and other proprietary

information Despite these precautions it may be possible for third party to develop similar technology

independently or copy or otherwise misappropriate and use our products or technology without authorization

particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do

the laws of the United States We may need to resort to litigation in the future to enforce our intellectual property

rights to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others This

litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could harm our business

Claims that we misuse the intellectual property of others could subject us to significant liability and

disrupt our business

Any claim of infringement by third party even those without merit could cause us to incur substantial

costs defending against the claim and could distract our management from our business Furthermore party

making such claim if successful could secure judgment that requires us to pay substantial damages

judgment could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from offering our products

In addition we might be required to seek license for the use of such intellectual property which may not be

available on commercially reasonable terms or at all Alternatively we may be required to develop

non-infringing technology which could require significant effort and expense and may ultimately not be

successful Any of these events could seriousl harm our business operating results and financial condition

Our use of open source and third-party software could negatively affect our business and subject us to

possible litigation

We incorporate open source software into our software solutions We monitor our use of open source

software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend Although we believe that we have

complied with our obligations under the various applicable licenses for open source software that we use there is

little or no legal precedent governing the interpretation of many of the terms of certain of these licenses and

therefore the potential impact of these terms on our business is somewhat unknown and may result in

unanticipated obligations or restrictions regarding our products and technologies In such event we could be

required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our solutions to re-engineer our

solutions or to discontinue the sale of our solutions in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on

timely basis any of which could adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

We also incorporate certain third-party technologies including software programs into our products and

may need to utilize additional third-party technologies in the future However licenses to relevant third-party

technology may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all Therefore we

could face delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be identified licensed or developed and

integrated into our current products These delays if they occur could materially adversely affect our business

operating results and financial condition

We are uncertain of our ability to obtain additionalfinancing for our future capital needs

Despite our significant expenditures related to Soapstone we expect our current cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities will meet our normal working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next

twelve months We may need to raise additional funding at that time or earlier if we decide to undertake the

acquisition of complementary companies products or technologies or if we increase our research and

development or other efforts or in connection with any strategic alternative We cannot be certain that we will be

able to obtain additional financing on favorable terms if at all as our Soapstone products are at an early stage of

development our target market is undeveloped and we currently do not have an established customer base all of

which create high degree of risk We may obtain additional financing by issuing shares of our common stock

which could dilute our existing stockholders or through the incurrence of debt which could affect our cash flows
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and flexibility with respect to future operations financings and acquisitions If we cannot raise needed funds on

acceptable terms or at all we may not be able to develop or enhance our products or respond appropriately to

competitive pressures
which would seriously harm our business

The market price of our common stock might decline due to future non-cash charges to earnings

As of January 2006 we account for employee stock-based compensation costs in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123R Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R Our adoption

of this SFAS 123R resulted in material non-cash charges to our earnings and we expect such non-cash charges to

continue to have material impact on future earnings It may not be possible to calculate the future impact with

respect to stock-based grants as the amount of these charges to earnings fluctuates with the price of our common

stock and other factors It is possible that some investors might consider this impact on operating results to be

material which could result in decline in the price of our common stock

Future interpretations of existing accounting standards could adversely affect our operating results

We consider accounting policies related to revenue recognition warranty liabilities long-lived assets

restructuring and impairment charges and stock-based compensation to be critical in fully understanding and

evaluating our financial results Management makes certain significant accounting judgments and estimates

related to these policies Our business operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely

impacted in future periods if our accounting judgments and estimates related to these critical accounting policies

prove to be inadequate

As result of our transition away from core router product sales to Soapstone our revenue recognition

methodology could change Because we are entering new business with new products our sales model and

form agreements may evolve over time and additionally we may be required to accept terms and conditions that

are unfavorable to us in order to consummate sale Accordingly if such customer contracts do not meet certain

requirements we may not be able to recognize revenue immediately and we may be required to delay revenue

recognition into future periods which could adversely affect our operating results

Any failure to maintain effective internal information systems or to implement effective internal controls

over financial reporting could adversely impact our business

We must continue to maintain our internal information systems in order to manage our business operations

We must also maintain internal control over financial reporting in accordance with The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 Sarbanes-Oxley Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting

may not prevent all errors and intentional misrepresentations Any system of internal control can only provide

reasonable assurance that all control objectives are met Some of the potential risks involved could include but

are not limited to management judgments simple errors or mistakes willful misconduct regarding controls or

misinterpretation There is no guarantee that existing controls will prevent or detect all material issues or that

existing controls will be effective in future conditions which could materially and adversely impact our financial

results Under Sarbanes-Oxley we are required to evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting Compliance with this legislation will require managements attention and

resources and will cause us to continue to incur significant expense Managements assessment of our internal

control over financial reporting may identify weaknesses that need to be addressed in our internal control over

financial reporting or other matters that may raise concerns for investors Should we determine that we have

material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting our results of operations or financial

condition may be materially adversely affected or the price of our common stock may decline

We are in the process of enhancing our information technology systems and requirements as our business

has transitioned from hardware manufacturing-related business to software business We have been and will

be implementing new processes
for our sales and support operations and the systems that support those

operations as well as very importantly our accounting systems This will entail great deal of management time
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and attention and expense including potentially significant capital expenditures Failure to make such changes in

our processes and systems could result in inadequate and delayed information including the delay in reporting of

financial results

The market price of our common stock may be materially adversely affected by market volatility

The price at which our common stock trades is highly volatile and fluctuates substantially Given the

development stage of the Soapstone products the announcement of any significant developments including

customer developments awards or losses or of any significant partnerships or acquisitions by us or our

competitors could have material adverse effect on our stock price In addition the stock market in general has

and technology companies in particular have from time to time experienced extreme price and volume

fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance or prospects of such

companies

The volatility of our stock price especially in view of the early stage of development of our Soapstone

products and the related marketing operations exposes us to the risk of securities class action litigation

In the past securities class action litigation has often been brought against companies following periods of

volatility in the market price of their securities Those companies like us that are involved in rapidly changing

technology markets are particularly subject to this risk Securities class action lawsuits have been filed against us

in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York The consolidated amended complaint

generally alleges that our initial public offering documents failed to disclose certain underwriting fees and

commissions and underwriter tie-ins and other arrangements with certain customers of the underwriters that

impacted the price of our common stock in the after-market The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages We

believe that the claims in this case against us lack merit and we have defended the litigation vigorously

We can provide no assurances as to the outcome of this securities litigation Any conclusion of this litigation

in manner adverse to us could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows In addition the cost to us of defending the litigation even if resolved in our favor

could be substantial Such litigation could also substantially divert the attention of our management and/or

resources in general Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of this litigation could harm our

ability to compete in the marketplace Because the price of common stock has been and may continue to be

volatile we can provide no assurances that additional securities litigation will not be filed against us in the future

Changes in our tax rates will affect our futwe results

Our future effective tax rates will be favorably or unfavorably affected by our ability to take advantage of

the available tax planning strategies and our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards For example

at December 31 2008 we had federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $311.5

million and $159.4 million respectively These net operating loss canyforwards may be used to offset future

taxable rncome and thereby reduce our income taxes otherwise payable Our use of the net operating loss

carryforwards is limited by the annual limitations as described in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended For example change in the ownership of the Company could trigger such limitations Our transition

away from core router development and sales to focus on Soapstone could further limit our ability to utilize our

net operating loss carryforwards in the future if or when we generate profits in our Soapstone products In

addition we are subject to the examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other

tax authorities The outcomes of these examinations if they occur could result in material adverse effect on our

financial condition results of operations and cash flows
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Our charter documents Shareholder Rights Plan and Delaware law could inhibit takeover that some

stockholders may consider favorable

There are provisions of Delaware law and our charter by-laws and Shareholder Rights Plan that could

make it more difficult for third party to acquire us even if doing so would be beneficial to some of our

stockholders by providing them the opportunity to sell their shares at premium over the market price If

change of control or change in management is delayed or prevented the market price of our common stock could

be affected

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is currently located in leased facility in Billerica Massachusetts consisting of

approximately 57000 square feet under lease expiring in 2014 We also leased facility in North Billerica

Massachusetts consisting of approximately 22900 square feet under lease expiring in the third quarter of 2009

primarily to facilitate our legacy core router related activities

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Twelve purported securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and one or more of the

Companys underwriters in its initial public offering and certain officers and directors of the Company The

lawsuits alleged violations of the federal securities laws and were docketed in the U.S District Court for the

Southern District of New York the Court as Felzen et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A

No 0l-CV-3363 Lefkowitz et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-3541 Lewis et al Avici

Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-3698 Mandel et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-3713

Minai et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-3870 Steinberg et al Avici Systems Inc et al

C.A No 0l-CV-3983 Pelissier et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-4204 Esther et al Avici

Systems Inc et al C.A No 0l-CV-4352 Zhous et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 01-CV-4494

Mammen et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A No 01-CV-5722 Lin et al Avici Systems Inc et al

C.A No 01-CV-5674 and Shives et al Banc of America Securities et al C.A No 0l-CV-4956 On

April 19 2002 consolidated amended class action complaint the Complaint which superseded these twelve

purported securities class action lawsuits was filed in the Court The Complaint is captioned In re Avici

Systems Inc Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 92 01 Civ 3363 SAS and names as

defendants the Company certain of the underwriters of the Companys initial public offering and certain of the

Companys officers and directors The Complaint which seeks unspecified damages alleges violations of the

federal securities laws including among other things that the underwriters of the Companys initial public

offering IPO improperly required their customers to pay the underwriters excessive commissions and to agree

to buy additional shares of stock in the aftermarket as conditions of receiving shares in the Companys IPO The

Complaint further claims that these supposed practices of the underwriters should have been disclosed in the

Companys IPO prospectus and registration statement In addition to the Complaint against the Company

various other plaintiffs have filed other substantially similar class action cases against approximately 300 other

publicly traded companies and their IPO underwriters in New York City which along with the case against the

Company have all been transferred to single federal district judge for purposes of case management The

Company and its officers and directors believe that the claims against the Company lack merit and have

defended the litigation vigorously In that regard on July 15 2002 the Company together with the other issuers

named as defendants in these coordinated proceedings filed collective motion to dismiss the consolidated

amended complaints against them on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants

On October 2002 the Court dismissed without prejudice all claims against the individual current and

former officers and directors who were named as defendants in our litigation and they are no longer parties to
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the lawsuit On February 19 2003 the Court issued its ruling on the motions to dismiss filed by the issuer

defendants and separate motions to dismiss filed by the underwriter defendants in that ruling the Court granted

in part and denied in part those motions As to the claims brought against the Company under the antifraud

provisions of the securities laws the Court dismissed all of these claims with prejudice and refused to allow the

plaintiffs an opportunity to re-plead these claims against the Company As to the claims brought under the

registration provisions of the securities laws which do not require that intent to defraud be pleaded the Court

denied the motion to dismiss these claims as to the Company and as to substantially all of the other issuer

defendants as well The Court also denied the underwriter defendants motion to dismiss in all respects

In June 2003 the Company elected to participate in proposed settlement agreement with the plaintiffs in

this litigation If the proposed settlement had been approved by the Court it would have resulted in the dismissal

with prejudice of all claims in the litigation against the Company and against any of the other issuer defendants

who elected to participate in the proposed issuer settlement together with the current or former officers and

directors of participating issuers who were named as individual defendants This proposed settlement was

conditioned on among other things ruling by the District Court that the claims against the Company and

against the other issuers who had agreed to the settlement would be certified for class action treatment for

purposes of the proposed settlement such that all investors included in the proposed classes in these cases would

be bound the terms of the settlement unless an investor opted to be excluded from the settlement

On December 2006 the U.S Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit issued decision that six purported

class action lawsuits containing allegations substantially similar to those asserted against the Company may not

be certified as class actions due in part to the Appeals Courts determination that individual issues of reliance

and knowledge would predominate over issues common to the proposed classes On January 2007 the

plaintiffs filed petition seeking rehearing en banc of this ruling On April 2007 the Court of Appeals denied

the plaintiffs petition for rehearing of the Courts December 2006 ruling but noted that the plaintiffs remained

free to ask the District Court to certify classes different from the ones originally proposed which might meet the

standards for class certification that the Court of Appeals articulated in its December 2006 decision

In light of the Court of Appeals December 2006 decision regarding certification of the plaintiffs claims

the District Court entered an order on June 25 2007 terminating the proposed settlement between the plaintiffs

and the issuers including the Company On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs filed amended complaints in the six

focus cases On November 13 2007 the issuer defendants and the underwriter defendants separately moved to

dismiss the claims against them in the amended complaints in the six focus cases On March 26 2008 the

District Court issued an order in which it denied in substantial part the motions to dismiss the amended

complaints in the six focus cases

In February 2009 an agreement-in-principle to settle the litigation in its entirety was reached which

agreement will be subject to negotiation filing with the District Court of definitive settlement documents and

final approval by the District Court While we can make no promises or guarantees as to the outcome of these

proceedings the Company does not believe that loss is probable or reasonably estimable as of the balance sheet

date

In addition the Company received letters dated July 13 2007 and July 25 2007 from putative shareholder

demanding that the Company investigate and prosecute claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of

Section 16b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the underwriters of its initial public offering C1PO
and certain unidentified directors officers and shareholders of the Company The Company evaluated the

demand and declined to prosecute the claim On October 2007 the putative shareholder commenced civil

lawsuit in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Washington against the lead underwriters of the

Companys IPO alleging violations of Section 16b The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares

of the Companys common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriters and certain unnamed officers

directors and principal shareholders exceeded ten percent
of its outstanding common stock from the date of the

Companys IPO on July 28 2000 through at least July 27 2001 It further alleges that those entities and
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individuals were thus subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16a and the short-swing trading

prohibition of Section 16b and failed to comply with those provisions The complaint seeks to recover from the

lead underwriters any short-swing profits obtained by them in violation of Section 16b The Company was

named as nominal defendant in the action but has no liability for the asserted claims No directors or officers of

the Company are named as defendants in this action On October 29 2007 the case was reassigned to Judge

James Roban On February 27 2008 the putative shareholder filed an Amended Complaint asserting

substantially similarclaims as those set forth in the initial complaint On July 25 2008 the Company joined with

29 other issuers to file the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to dismiss Plaintiff filed her opposition to this motion

on September 2008 and the Issuer Defendants Reply in Support of Their Joint Motion to Dismiss was filed

on October 23 2008 Oral argument on all motions to dismiss was held on January 16 2009 at which time the

Judge took the pending motions to dismiss under advisement The Judge has stayed discovery until he rules on all

motions to dismiss The Company believes that the outcome of this litigation will not have material adverse

impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

In addition we are subject to legal proceedings claims and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of

business such as but not limited to patent employment commercial and environmental matters Although there

can be no assurance there are no such matters pending that we expect to be material with respect to our business

financial position or results of operations

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATFERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 no matters were submitted to vote of security holders

through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise
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PART 11

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock had been traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol AVCI since

July 28 2000 Effective March 19 2008 with the change of the Companys name to Soapstone Networks Inc.

the ticker symbol was changed to SOAP and the stock continues to trade on the NASDAQ

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices as reported on the

NASDAQ National Market

High Low

Fiscal 2007

First Quarter $12.68 $6.72

Second Quarter $13.96 $6.65

Third Quarter $12.70 $6.75

Fourth Quarter SI 1.75 $7.12

Fiscal 2008

First Quarter 9.20 $5.76

Second Quarter 7.96 $3.82

Third Quarter 4.92 $3.11

Fourth Quarter 3.88 S2.0I

As of March 2009 there were approximately 359 stockholders of record
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph shows the five-year cumulatie total stockholder return on the Companys Common
Stock during the period from December 2X3 through December 31 2X8 ith the cumulative total return

on the Nasdaq Stock Market U.S Index and the Nasdaq Telecommunications Index The comparison assumes

$100 was invested on December 31.2003 in the Companys Common Stock and in each of the foregoing indices

and assumes reinvestment of dividends if an

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC. THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET U.S INDEX

ANE THE NASDAQ TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDEX

160.00
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000

-.--SOAP NASDAQ STOCK MARKET NASDAQ TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Sl00 invested on 12/31/03 in stock or index-including reinestment of dividends

Fiscal year ending December 31

Dividend Policy

On June 22 2007 the Compan distributed special cash dividend of S2.X per outstanding share of

common stock or S28.3 million to shareholders of record as of June II 2X7 Other than this special dividend

we ha never paid or declared an cash di idends on our common stock or other securities An future

determination to pa cash di idends ill be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will be dependent

upon our financial condition results of operations capital requirements general business condition and such

other factors as the Board of Directors ma deem rele ant

Information concerning our equit compensation plans is set forth in our Definiti Prox Statement ith

respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed ith the Securities and Exchange Commission

not later than 120 das after the end of the fiscal sear under the heading of Equit Compensation Plan

Information hich is incorrated herein reference
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ITEM SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated

financial statements and notes thereto and with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations and other financial data included elsewhere in this report The statement of operations

data for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31 2008

and 2007 are denved from our audited consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this

report The statement of operations data for the years ended December 31 2005 and 2004 and the balance sheet

data as of December 2006 2005 and 2004 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not

included in this report All periods include adjustments to reflect the classification of our router business as

discontinued operations The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for
any

future penod

Statement of Operations Data
Resenue

Cost of revenue

Gross margin

Research and development
Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations before interest and income
taxes

Interest income

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Benefit from income taxes

Loss from continuing operations

Income 0055 from discontinued operations net of

tal$2

Net loss income

Diluted loss earnings per share

From continuing operations

From discontinued operations

From net loss income

Weighted aserage diluted common shares

Ii Includes certain non-cash stxk-hased compensation as follows

Research and deselopment
Sales and marketing

General and administration

Iiscontinued operations

2J Includes insentorv and insentors related charges and

credits as folIos

Ins enftw\ and ins entors related charges associated sith

restructuring

Credits from utilitation of ins entors pres jousl .5 flttLfl

off in 2Xl

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands except share and per share data

7.149

2.117

_________
6.584

__________
15.850

15850

___________
3771

12.079

12.079

8.370 74.356 8.285 24.654

18.935 62.277 8.285 24.654

As of December 31

Balance Sheet Data
Cash cash equisalents and marketable securities 89.166

orking capital 87.352

Total assCts 95.237

Total stockholders equit\ 92.178

102.988 68.599 50.219 69.026

101.202 52.743 38.435 50116
118.853 84.690 77.670 94.4 13

107.508 66.184 52.190 76.270

17.401

6.258

6.615

30274

130.274

2.665

27.609
304

27.305

35.425

35.425

2.81

2.81

12.628.408

1.84
0.56

1.28

14.827.800

0.85
522

4.37

14.247.480

1.91

1.91

12.887.979

0.60

0.60

13.706.889

819

1.330 817

686 290

977 811

127 405 309

175 3.094

218 215 323 773

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands

26



ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Selected Consolidated Financial

Data and the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form

10-K This report contains forward-looking statements which involve risks and uncertainties We make such

forward-looking statements under the provision of the Safe Harbor section of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 Any forward-looking statements should be considered in light of the factors described

above in Item IA under Risk Factors Actual results may vary materially from those projected anticipated or

indicated in any forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements include statements regarding the future

or Soapstones expectations beliefs intentions or strategies regarding the future and may be identified by the

words anticipate believe could estimate expect intend may plan should will and

would and similarexpressions We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements

for any reason

Overview

The Company Avici Avici Systems Soapstone Networks Soapstone we or the Company was

incorporated in the State of Delaware on November 12 1996 and was organized to design and develop core

routers for the carrier market Effective March 19 2008 the Company changed its name to Soapstone Networks

Inc and now trades on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol SOAP

In February 2007 the Company announced its decision to launch Soapstone Networks Soapstone

Soapstone is developing next generation software product designed to help service providers and enterprises

connect their physical networking infrastructure to Next Generation Network NGN software frameworks and

deploy services across their networks by providing multi-vendor software-based network control plane

Soapstone is predominantly engaged in research and development activities as it continues to commercialize its

Soapstone products

As previously announced the Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products

making its last shipments in December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December

2008 Accordingly the Company is disclosing its historical activities associated with its legacy router products

and services as discontinued operations The Company does not anticipate any revenue associated with the

legacy router products or related support in the future

Since our inception we have incurred significant losses As of December 31 2008 we had an accumulated

deficit of $402.4 million Although we recorded net income in 2007 and 2006 we were not able to sustain this

profitability in 2008 as result of our transition away from core router development and product sales We

expect to incur losses in 2009 as we continue to invest in Soapstone with the objective of commercial

introduction during the year Given the early stage of our Soapstone products we expect quarterly losses and

negative cash flow in the near term and there can be no assurance that we will generate meaningful revenue or

achieve profitability through our Soapstone products once introduced

Revenue

Revenue we generate in 2009 if any will be from our Soapstone products

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related employee costs contractor

costs depreciation expense on laboratory equipment software maintenance and certain project costs In 2009 we

expect research and development expenses to decline as result of the Companys decision in February 2009 to

realign its cost structure and reduce its labor and labor related costs

27



Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses have consisted primarily of salaries and related employee costs tradeshows

travel public relations and costs associated with other marketing events In 2009 we expect to increase our

spending primarily in sales as we plan to expand our sales force in certain key geographic areas where we see

the success of our products in such markets

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for executive finance

legal facilities human resources and information technology personnel as well as professional and compliance

related fees In 2009 we expect general and administrative expenses to continue at the current levels

Discontinued Operations

As previously announced the Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products

making its last shipments in December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December

2008 Accordingly the Company has disclosed its historical activities associated with its legacy router products

and services as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Prior years results

associated with such legacy product and services were reclassified to reflect its presentation as discontinued

operations Income loss from discontinued operations include revenue cost of revenue research and

development expenses sales and marketing expenses other income and income taxes In addition in 2006 the

expenses also include all the general and administrative expenses which existed at that time solely to support its

legacy operations Also included in 2006 was interest income earned from its cash and marketable securities The

Company recorded restructuring charges of approximately $0.3 million and $10.7 million in 2007 and 2006

respectively All such charges were incurred in our legacy router operation which is as appropriately included in

discontinued operations

Stock-based Compensation

In 2005 and 2006 the Company granted 172000 and 92500 shares respectively of performance-based

restricted stock to certain key employees of the Company The performance criteria were met in 2007 and

accordingly all unamortized expenses associated with such grants were expensed The total charges associated

with restricted stock grants were $0.3 million and $1.0 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively

Beginning in 2006 the Company records share-based compensation expense under the provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123R SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment which

establishes accounting for equity instruments exchanged for employee services

Critical Accounting Policies

Soapstone considers the following accounting policies related to revenue recognition long-lived assets and

stock-based compensation to be critical accounting policies due to the estimation processes and judgments

involved in each The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and various other factors that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions

Revenue Recognition

Consistent with Statement of Position No 97-2 Soapstone recognized revenue from legacy router product

sales upon shipment or delivery to customers including resellers provided that purchase order has been

received or contract has been executed there were no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance the sales
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price was fixed or determinable and collectability was deemed probable If uncertainties regarding customer

acceptance existed the Company recognized revenue when those uncertainties were resolved For arrangements

that included the delivery of multiple elements revenue was allocated to the various elements based on vendor-

specific objective evidence of fair value VSOE The Company used the residual method when VSOE did not

exist for one of the delivered elements in an arrangement We generated revenue from support and maintenance

as well as installation and service We defer-red revenue from support and maintenance contracts and recognized

it ratably over the period of the related agreements We recognized revenue from installation and other services

as the work was performed Amounts collected or billed prior to satisfying the above revenue recognition criteria

were recorded as deferred revenue All revenue recognized has been from the Companys legacy router operation

which is reflected as discontinued operations In the future when the Company commences commercial shipment

of its new software products if the Company is unable to meet one or all of the above criteria on timely basis

revenue recognized for
any reporting period could be adversely affected

Long-lived Assets

We review property plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount of such an asset may not be recoverable Recoverability of these assets is

measured by comparison of their carrying amount to future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to

generate over the remaining economic life If such assets are considered to be impaired the impairment to be

recognized in earnings equals the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds their fair market

value determined by either quoted market price if any or value determined by utilizing discounted cash

flow technique We have recognized no material impairment adjustments related to our property plant and

equipment Deterioration in our business in the future could lead to impairment adjustments in future periods

Evaluation of impairment of long-lived assets requires estimates of future operating results that are used in the

preparation of the expected future undiscounted cash flows Actual future operating results and the remaining

economic lives of our long-lived assets could differ from the estimates used in assessing the recoverability of

these assets These differences could result in impairment charges which could have material adverse impact

on our results of operations

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

In 2006 we commenced accounting for employee stock-based compensation costs in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No l23R Share-Based Payment SFAS l23R We utilize the

Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock based compensation at the date

of grant which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions including expected volatility and expected

life Further as required under SFAS 23R we estimate forfeitures for options granted which are not expected to

vest Changes in these inputs and assumptions can materially affect the measure of estimated fair value of our

stock-based compensation

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2007

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased Sl0.3 million to $17.4 million in 2008 from S7.l million in

2007 The increase in 2008 as compared to 2007 was primarily due to an increase in labor and labor related

expenses as we continued to increase our resources associated with our research and development efforts
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $4.2 million to $6.3 million in 2008 from S2 million in 2007 The

increase in 2008 was due to an increase in labor and labor related expenses tradeshows and other marketing

programs associated with the Soapstone product as we continue to increase our investment in our sales and

marketing efforts

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses remained constant at $6.6 million in 2008 and 2007

Interest Income

Interest income decreased $1.1 million to S2.7 million in 2008 from $3.8 million in 2007 The decrease in

2008 was primarily due to lower interest rates

Provision for Income Taxes

As of December 3l 2008 the Company had net operating loss canyforwards for federal and state income

tax purposes of approximately $3 11.5 million and $159.4 million respectively As of December 31 2007 the

Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately

S294.l million and S154.9 million respectively Approximately $18.5 million of the Companys net operating

loss carryforwards relate to deductions associated with the Companys stock option plans which will be

benefited through stockholders equity if realized The federal net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in

2012 and state net operating loss carryforwards began to expire in 2007 As of December 31 2008 the Company
has

gross
federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of approximately S12.7 million and $9.9 million

respectively which will begin to expire in 2012 As of December 31 2008 the Company also has AMT credit

carryfor ards of $1.2 million The utilization of the net operating loss research tax credit and AMT credit

carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations should there be changes in the ownership of the Company At

December 2008 and 2007 the Company has recorded full valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset

due to the uncertainty surrounding the realizability of this asset

Discontinued Operations

The Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products making its last shipments in

December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008 Accordingly income

from discontinued operations decreased $66 million in 2008 to $8.4 million from $74.4 million in 2007

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2006

Research and Development

Research and development expenses related to continuing operations were $7.1 million in 2007 The

Company had not commenced its new software operation until 2007 All research and development for years

prior to 2007 were solely to support its legacy router operations which have been reported as discontinued

operations Accordingly there were no comparable expenses
in 2006

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses related to continuing operations were $2.1 million in 2007 The Company had

not commenced its new software operation until 2007 All sales and marketing for years prior to 2007 were

solely to support its legacy router operations which have been reported as discontinued operations Accordingly

there were no comparable expenses in 2006
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General and Administrative

General and administrative
expenses related to continuing operations were $6.6 million in 2007 The

Companys general and administrative
expenses

for
years prior to 2007 were solely to support its legacy router

operations which have been reported as discontinued operations Accordingly there were no comparable

expenses in 2006

Interest Income

Interest income was $3.8 million in 2007 The Companys interest income from its cash and marketable

securities for years prior to 2007 was solely to support its legacy router operations which have been reported as

discontinued operations Accordingly there was no comparable interest income in 2006

Provision for Income Taxes

As of December 2007 Soapstone had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax

purposes
of approximately $294.1 million and $154.9 million respectively As of December 31 2006 Soapstone

had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $349.9 million

and $155.7 million respectively Approximately $18.5 million of the Companys net operating loss

carryforwards relate to deductions associated with Soapstones stock option plans which will be benefited

through stockholders equity if realized The federal net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2012 and

state net operating loss carryforwards began to expire in 2007 As of December 31 2007 Soapstone also had

gross
federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of approximately $12.4 million and S8.0 million

respectively which will begin to expire in 2012 The utilization of the net operating loss and research tax credit

carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations based on changes in the ownership of the Company At

December 31 2007 and 2006 the Company has recorded full valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset

due to the uncertainty surrounding the realizability of this asset

Discontinued Operations

The Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products making its last shipments in

December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008 In addition product

revenue in 2007 was higher than 2006 since 2007 was benefited by end-of-life orders for the router products

Accordingly income from discontinued operations increased $66.1 million in 2007 to S74.4 million from S8.3

million in 2006

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception we have financed our operations through private sales of equity securities an initial

public offering in July 2000 and to lesser extent from the exercise of stock options by employees From

inception through December 31 2008 we raised approximately $427.7 million from these equity offerings Net

of the cash generated from discontinued operations in 2008 we used $10.5 million in cash from operating

activities compared to $59.8 million gained in 2007 and $17.7 million gained in 2006 The significant use of our

cash from operating activities in 2008 as compared to cash provided by operating activities 2007 and 2X was

primarily due to our exit from the manufacture and sale of our legacy router products in December 2007 We

expect that in the future working capital requirements will fluctuate based on the timing and magnitude of

payments associated with Soapstone operating costs and future customer payment terms

Purchases of property and equipment were $3.9 million in 2008 compared to $3.0 million in 2007 and $2.1

million in 2006 Purchases of property and equipment increased in 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to

our increased investment in our new Soapstone operations The timing and amount of future capital expenditures

will depend primarily on our requirements for Soapstone We expect that capital expenditures will be

approximately $1.0 million to Sl.5 million in 2009
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At December 31 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents of S83 million and current marketable securities

of S6 million totaling $89.2 million On June 22 2007 the Company distributed special cash dividend of

$2.00 per outstanding share of common stock or $28.3 million We believe that our existing cash cash

equivalents and marketable securities will meet our normal operating and capital expenditure needs beyond the

next twelve months However we may need to raise additional capital in the future We may not be able to obtain

additional capital on terms favorable to us or at all as our Soapstone products have not yet been fully tested The

issuance of additional equity or equity-related securities would be dilutive to our stockholders If we cannot raise

funds on acceptable terms or at all we may not be able to develop or enhance our Soapstone products or respond

appropriately to competitive pressures which would seriously limit our ability to increase our revenue and grow

our business

On February 19 2009 we announced that we have engaged an invcstmcnt banker to assist the Company in

exploring strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There can be no

assurance that the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in any agreements or transactions or that if

completed any agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys strategic

review is underway but no timetable has been set for its completion

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2008 we did not have any
off-balance-sheet arrangements as defined in

Item 303a4iil of SEC Regulation S-K

Contractual Obligations

At December 31 2008 our contractual obligations which consist entirely of operating leases were as

follows in thousands

Operating

FiJ Year Leases

2009 744

2010 635

2011 663

2012 692

2013 720

2014 680

Total payments $4134

Payments made under operating leases will be treated as rent expense for the facilities In addition

associated with the lease the Company is obligated to pay common area maintenance charges and real estate

taxes which could vary each year

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 Revised 2007 Business Combinations SFAS
141R SFAS 141R retains the fundamental requirements in FASB Statement 141 that the acquisition method of

accounting which Statement 141 called the purchase method be used for all business combinations and for an

acquirer to be identified for each business combination SFAS 141 requires an acquirer to recognize the assets

acquired the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date

measured at their fair values as of that date with limited exceptions specified in SFAS l4lR That replaces

FASB Statement 141s cost-allocation process which required the cost of an acquisition to be allocated to the

individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values SFAS l4lR will now
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require acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred restructuring costs associated with business combination

must generally be expensed prior to the acquisition date and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances

and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense SFAS 141R

applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is in fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2008 Earlier adoption is prohibited The Company will adopt this pronouncement beginning in

fiscal year 2009 The adoption of the provisions of SFAS 14 1R is not expected to have material impact on the

Companys historical financial position or results of operations The adoption of SFAS 141R will change our

accounting treatment for business combinations on prospective basis beginning in the first quarter 2009

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS 160 SFAS 160 clarifies that noncontrolling or minority interest in subsidiary is

considered an ownership interest and accordingly requires all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as

equity in the consolidated financial statements SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2008 We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 160 to have material impact on the Companys
financial position and results of operations
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and to lesser extent foreign currency

exchange rates We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We maintain an investment portfolio consisting mainly of investment grade money market funds corporate

obligations and federal agency obligations with weighted-average maturity of less than one year These

securities are subject to interest rate risk and will fall in value if market interest rates increase If market interest

rates were to increase immediately and uniformly by 10% from levels at December 31 2008 the fair market

value of these investments would decline by an immaterial amount We have the ability to hold our other fixed

income investments until maturity Therefore we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be

affected to any significant degree by sudden change in market interest rates on our securities portfolio The

following table provides information about our investment portfolio For investment securities the table presents

principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates

Carrying Value at December 31 2008

Un thousands

Maturing in

2009 total

Cash and Cash Equialents S83.124 S83.124

Weighted Average Interest Rate .40 .40t7

Marketable Securities 6.042 6.042

Weighted Average Interest Rate 2.80e4 2.80

Total Portfolio S89.166 S89.l66

Weighted Average Interest Rate l.50% l.50

Exchange Rate Sensiti.ity

We operate primariI in the United States and all sales to date have been made in U.S dollars Accordingly

there has not been an material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations. If we expand our presence in

international markets and consummate sales denominated in foreign currencies our exposure to foreign currency

rate fluctuations could be material in the future

Soapstone has no off-balance sheet concentrations such as foreign exchange contracts option contracts or

other foreign currency hedging arrangements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Soapstone Networks Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Soapstone Networks Inc the Company

as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity

and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also included the

financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item IS These financial statements and schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Soapstone Networks Inc at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the

consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the

related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as

whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Soapstone Networks Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 10 2009 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

IJ Ernst Young LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 10 2009
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Iecember

2008 2007

in thousand.s except share

and per share amounts

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 83.124 88.903

Marketable securities 6.042 11.085

Trade accounts receivable 11.769

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 1.245 790

Total current assets 90.411 112.547

Property and equipment at cost

Computerequipment 10.432 7.313

Laboratory and test equipment 15.878 15.842

Leasehold improvements 867 299

Furniture and fixtures 672 447

27.849 23.901

LessAccumulated depreciation and amortization 23.560 20.595

Net property and equipment 4.289 3.306

Long-term marketable securities 3.000

Prepaid rents and non-current assets 537

95.237 118.853

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 1.357 4.167

Accrued payroll and payroll-related costs 1.254 4.0 19

Accrued other 448 816

Deferred revenue 2.343

Total current liabilities 3.059 11.345

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders Equity

Preferred stock S0.01 par value
Authorized 5.000.000 shares

Issued and outstandingnone

Common stock S0.00l par value

Authorized250.000.000 shares

lssuedl5.440.267 shares at December 31 2008 and 15.347.185 shares at

December 31 2007

Additional paid-in capital 49 1.134 487.529

Common stock arrants 6.321 6.321

Treasury stock at cost573397 shares 2.870 2.87ffl

Accumulated deficit 402.409 383.474

Total stockholders equity 92.178 107.508

95.237 118.853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands except share and per share amounts

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross margin

Research and development 17401 7.149

Sales and marketing 6.258 2.117

General and administrative 6.615 6.584
__________

Total operating expenses 30.274 15.850

Loss from continuing operations before interest and income taxes 30.274 15.850

Interest income 2665 3.771

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes 27.609 12.079
Benefit from income taxes 304

Loss from continuing operations 27305 12.079

Income from discontinued operations net of income tax benefit

provision of S0.2 million l.2 million and S0.2 million

respectively 8.370 74356 8.285

Net loss income 18.935 62.277 8.285

Basic loss earnings per share

Continuing operations 1.84 0.85
Discontinued operations 0.56 5.22 0.62

Net loss income 1.28 4.37 0.62

Diluted loss earnings per share

Continuing operations 1.84 0.85

Discontinued operations 0.56 5.22 0.60

Net loss income 1.28 4.37 0.6

Weighted average basic shares 14.827.800 14.247.480 l3.3N.17

Weighted average diluted shares 14.827.800 14.247.480 13.706.889

Dividends declared and paid per share 2.00

Includes certain non-cash stock-based compensation

associated with stock option grants as follows

Research and development 1330 817

Sales and marketing 686 290

General and adniinistratie 977 811

Discontinued operations 127 405 819

Includes inventors charges and credits as follows

Inventory and inventory related charges associated with

restructuring 175 3.094

Credits from utilization of inventory previously written off in

200l 218

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Un thousands

Cash flows from
operating activities

Net loss income 18.935 62.277 8.285

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash from operating

acti ities

Non-cash restructuring expenses .580

Depreciation and amortization 2.964 4.595 6.323

Stock-based compensation 3.120 2.768 1.9X

Amortization of common stock warrant discountproduct 527

Tax benefit related to exercise of stock options 123
Reversal of provision for doubtful accounts 145
Gain on sale of fixed assets 146 95
Changes in current assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 11.769 8041 2.539

Inventories
5.438 2.867

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 455 100 611

Other non-current assets 537
Accounts payable 2.687 1325 4.568
Accrued payroll and payroll related 2.765 1.522 17
Accrued restructuring costs 2.413 2.413

Accrued other 368 324 396
Deferred revenue 2.343 7.249 4.378

Net cash used in provided by operating activities 10.506 59.758 17.686

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from the sale and maturity of marketable securities 14.128 54.738 67.184

Purchases of marketable securities 6.085 39.903 48.858
Purchases of property and equipment 3.947 2.979 2.087
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 146 110

Release deposits of restricted cash 1.243 1.000

Net cash provided by investing activities 4.242 13.209 15.239

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments of dividends 28.339
Repurchase of common stock 515 155
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 129 81 117

Tax benefit related to exercise of stock options 123

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 233 5.030 3.819

Net cash prouded by used in financing activities 485 23.743 3.781

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 5.779 49.224 36.706

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 88.903 39.679 2.973

Cash and cash equialents end of year 83.124 88.93 39.679

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

40



SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company and subsidiaries Soapstone or the Company was incorporated in the State of Delaware on

November 12 1996 and was organized to design and develop core routers for the carrier market

In February 2007 the Company announced its decision to launch Soapstone Networks Soapstone

Soapstone is expected to help network providers of all types connect their physical transport infrastructure to the

Next Generation Network NON software infrastructure The Soapstone products are primarily in the research

and development stage On February 28 2008 the Company announced that effective March 19 2008 it would

change its name to Soapstone Networks Inc and trade in the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol SOAP

As previously announced the Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products

making its last shipments in December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December

2008 The Company will no longer have continuing involvement with the legacy router business beyond 2008

and accordingly the Company is disclosing its historical activities associated with its legacy router products and

services as discontinued operations The Company does not anticipate any revenue associated with the legacy

router products or related support in the future

Soapstone is subject to number of risks and challenges similar to other companies in similar stage of

development These risks include but are not limited to difficulties identifying analyzing and consummating

strategic alternatives its need to successfully develop and market commercially usable product the limited

number of products we are developing the development of the market for the Soapstone products the current

financial crisis and uncertainty in global economic and industry conditions the limited operating history of the

Soapstone products and competition from substitute products and larger companies with greater financial

technical management and marketing resources

The Company recorded net loss of $18.9 million in 2008 and net income of approximately $62.3 and $8.3

million for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively At December 31 2008 the Company had

an accumulated deficit of approximately $402.4 million and has funded those losses primarily through the sale of

redeemable convertible preferred stock the proceeds from the sale of its common stock and certain capital leases

Although the Company posted net income in its recent years it was unable to sustain its profitability in 2008 as

result of its decision to transition away from core router development and product sales The Companys future

profitability is dependent on its successful development marketing and sale of its Soapstone products The

Company expects to meet its future working capital marketing and research and development needs using its

existing cash cash equivalents and marketable securities until the Company returns to profitability However we

could be required or could elect to raise additional funds during that period and we may need to raise additional

capital in the future

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting

policies as described in this note and elsewhere in these notes to consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

Soapstone records revenue in accordance with Statement of Position No 97-2 Software Revenue

Recognition SOP 97-2 and all related interpretations The Company recognized revenue from product sales

upon shipment or delivery to customers including resellers provided that purchase order has been received or

contract has been executed there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance the sales price is fixed or
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

determinable and collectability is deemed probable If uncertainties regarding customer acceptance existed the

Company recognized revenue when those uncertainties were resolved For arrangements that included the

delivery of multiple elements revenue was allocated to the various elements based on vendor-specific objective

evidence of fair value VSOE The Company used the residual method when VSOE did not exist for one of

the delivered elements in an arrangement Revenue from
support

and maintenance contracts was recognized

ratably over the period of the related agreements Revenue from installation and other services was recognized as

the work was performed Amounts collected or billed prior to satisfying the above revenue recognition criteria

were recorded as defen-ed revenue in the past All revenue recognized has been from the Companys legacy

router operation which is reflected as discontinued operations

Cash Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Soapstone follows the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 115

Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities The Company has classified its marketable

securities as held-to-maturity and recorded them at amortized cost which approximates market value Unrealized

losses if any are primarily due to rising interest rates and are considered temporary in nature Soapstone

considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition

to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include money markets certificates of deposit and commercial

paper In the third quarter of 2008 as result of significant deterioration in credit rating and financial position of

one of the securities held by the Company and upon the recommendation of its external portfolio manager the

Company liquidated this security approximately three months prior to its maturity The net carrying amount of

this security was $2.1 million and the sale resulted in realized loss of less than $0.01 million

As of December 31 2008 cash cash equivalents and marketable securities consisted of the following

Fair Unrealized

Reinining Amortized Market Gain

Securities Maturities Cost Value Loss

Commercial Paper Within year 1.980 1.993 13

Corporate Bonds Within year 4.062 4.067

Total marketable securities 6042 6060 18

Cash and cash equivalents 83.124 83124

Total cash cash equivalents and marketable securities $89.1 66 $89.1 84 $18

As of December 31 2007 cash cash equivalents and marketable securities consisted of the following

Fair Unrealized

Remaining Amortized Market Gain

Securities Matunties Cost Value Loss

Commercial Paper Within
year 2457 2.462

Corporate Bonds Within year 7.628 7.629

U.S Government Obligations Within year 1.000 1.001

U.S Government Obligations 12 years 3.000 3.004

Total marketable securities 14.085 14096 II

Cash and cash equivalents 88903 88.903

Total cash cash equivalents and marketable securities 102.988 $102999 $11
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Depreciation Amortization and Impairment

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization Expenditures

for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred whereas major betterments are capitalized as

additions to property and equipment Soapstone provides for depreciation and amortization on the straight-line

basis and charges to operations amounts that allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives as

follows

Estimated

Asset cirti Useful Lile

Computer equipment years

Laboratory and test equipment 1.5-3 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or useful life of asset

Furniture and fixtures years

Depreciation and amortization expense was S3.O million S4.6 million and S6.3 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Concentrations of Credit and Other Risks

SFAS No 105 Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk and

Financial Instruments ttjth Concentrations of Credit Risk requires disclosure of any significant off-balance sheet

and credit risk concentrations The Companys principal credit risk relates to its cash cash equivalents

marketable securities and accounts receivable The Company invests its excess cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities primarily in deposits with commercial banks and high-quality corporate securities One

customer accounted for lX of trade receivables at December 31 2007

Soapstone has no off-balance sheet concentrations such as foreign exchange contracts option contracts or

other foreign hedging arrangements

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 SFAS 157

clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when

pricing an asset or liability and establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop

those assumptions Under the standard fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within

the fair value hierarchy and is effective for the Companys fiscal year beginning January 2008 and for interim

periods within that year In February 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP No 157-2 Effective

Date of FASH Statement No 157 which delayed for one year the effective date of SFAS No 157 for

nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

the financial statements on recurring basis at least annually As required the Company adopted SFAS

No 157 for its financial assets on January 2008 Adoption did not have material impact on the Companys
financial position or results of operations The Company has not yet determined the impact on its financial

statements of the January 2009 adoption of SFAS No 157 as it pertains to non-financial assets and liabilities

SFAS No 157 establishes fair value hierarchy that requires the use of observable market data when

available and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value in the following categories

Level I-Quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets

Level 2Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar

instruments in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which all observable inputs and

significant value drivers are observable in active markets

Level 3Model derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are

unobservable including assumptions developed by the Company

All of the fair values of the Companys investment instruments presented in Note 1b were based on level

inputs as described above to determine their fair values as of December 31 2008

Research and Development and Software-Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred The Company accounts for its software

development costs in accordance with SFAS No 86 Accounting for the Co.sts of Computer Software to Be Sold

Leased or Otherwise Marketed Accordingly the costs for the development of software and enhancements are

expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established at which time any additional costs

would be capitalized Soapstone determines technological feasibility has been established at the time at which

working model of the software has been completed Because Soapstone believes its current process
for

developing software is essentially completed concurrently with the establishment of technological feasibility no

costs have been capitalized to date

Net Loss per Share and Pro Forma Net Loss per Share

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

during the period Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common

shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period Dilutive potential common shares

primarily consist of employee stock options common stock warrants and restricted common stock The dilutive

effect of in-the-money options and warrants is calculated based on the average share price for each fiscal period

using the treasury stock method Basic and diluted net loss per share is the same for periods with loss and all

outstanding employee stock options common stock warrants and unvested restricted stock are excluded as they

are considered anti-dilutive In situations where company reports continuing operations as well as discontinued

operations the shares used to determine basic or diluted earnings per share is based on earnings or loss

associated with continuing operations Since the Companys continuing operations generate loss the diluted

shares are the same as basic shares even in years with net income

Options to purchase total of 3263653 shares 2420480 shares and 2478365 have been excluded from

the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively Unvested restricted stock of 179.500 has been excluded fmm the computation of diluted
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

weighted average shares outstanding for the
year

ended December 31 2006 Warrants to purchase 800000
shares of common stock have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted average shares

outstanding for all the years presented

Comprehensive Income Loss

SFAS No 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income requires disclosure of all components of

comprehensive income on an annual and interim basis Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity

of business enterprise during period from transactions and other events and circumstances involving

non-owner sources During all periods presented Soapstone did not have any items of comprehensive income

loss other than its reported net income loss

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records its share-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 123R SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment which establishes accounting

for equity instruments exchanged for employee services Under the provisions of SFAS No 123R share-based

compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the calculated fair value of the award and is recognized

as an expense over the employees requisite service period generally the vesting period of the equity grant under

the accelerated attribution method Prior to 2006 the Company accounted for share-based compensation to

employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 APB 25 Accounting for Stock

Issued to Employees and related interpretations The Company also followed the disclosure requirements of SFAS
No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation as amended by SFAS 148 Accounting for Stock-Based

CompensationTransition and Disclosure The Company elected to adopt the modified prospective transition

method as provided by SFAS No 123R and accordingly financial statement amounts for the prior years presented

have not been restated to reflect the fair value method of expensing share-based compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model Key input

assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options include the exercise price of the award the expected

option term the expected volatility of the Companys stock over the options expected term the risk-free interest

rate over the options expected term and the Companys expected annual dividend yield Prior to 2008 the

Company has utilized expected volatilities based on historical volatility since the Company was significantly

restructuring its business However since 2008 expected volatilities are based on blended volatility derived from

historical and implied volatilities of the Companys common stock since the business has been restructured and

hence the market is able to effectively price its traded options The expected term represents the weighted average

period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to vesting schedules and our

historical exercise patterns and the risk-free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of

grant for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option The fair value of each option grant was

estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions

2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.82% 4.52% 4.86%

Expected dividend yield

Expected term 4.14 years 4.20 years 3.64 years

Expected volatility 66% 76% 73%

Expected forfeiture 21.70% 23.22% 19.15%

Weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted 2.98 4.08 3.53
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The fair value of grants made under the employee stock purchase plan in 2008 was calculated using the

following assumptions risk-free interest rate of 1.48% expected term of 0.5 to 2.0
years and expected volatility

of 69.4% The fair value of
grants made under the employee stock purchase plan in 2007 was calculated using the

following assumptions risk-free interest rate of 4.34% expected term of 0.5 years and expected volatility of

75.3% The fair value of grants made under the employee stock purchase plan in 2006 was calculated using the

following assumptions risk-free interest rate of 4.49% expected term of 0.5 years and expected volatility of

82.8%

Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information establishes standards

for reporting information regarding operating segments and establishes standards for related disclosures about

products and services and geographic areas Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise

about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision

maker or decision making group in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance

In 2007 the Company announced its transition away from core router development and product sales to focus on

its Soapstone products The Company completed the final shipments of its core router products in the fourth

quarter of 2007 and related support ended in 2008 During this transition the chief operating decision maker or

decision making group commenced assessing performance and allocation of resources between its legacy core

router product and service and its Soapstone product development Accordingly commencing in 2007 Soapstone

operated in two operating segmentscore router and Soapstone However since the Company has begun

disclosing its legacy router operations as discontinued operations the Company has concluded that it has reverted

to operating in only one segment the Soapstone segment

Discontinued Operations

As previously announced the Company has exited the manufacture sale and
support of router products

making its last shipments in December 2007 and providing related suppon only through the end of December

2008 Accordingly the Company has disclosed its historical activities associated with its legacy router products

and services as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Prior years operating

results associated with such legacy products and services include adjustments to reflect its presentation as

discontinued operations Income loss from discontinued operations include revenue cost of revenue research

and development expenses sales and marketing expenses other income and income taxes In addition for the

year 2006 the
expenses also include all the general and administrative expenses which existed at that time solely

to support its legacy operations Also included in 2006 was interest income earned from its cash and marketable

securities

The Companys assets as of December 31 2008 are all related to continuing operations Property plant and

equipment associated with discontinued operations have zero net book value at the end of 2008 and will be

written off once such assets are abandoned in 2009 Substantially all of the December 31 2008 liabilities and

accrued expenses relate to continuing operations Assets associated with discontinued operations as of

December 31 2007 primarily relate to trade accounts receivable of 11.8 million Liabilities associated with

discontinued operations as of December 31 2007 relate to all the deferred revenue and portion of the accrued

liabilities and payables
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In February 2009 the Company announced that it had engaged an investment banker to assist in exploring

strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There can be no assurance that

the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in any agreements or transactions or that if completed any

agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys strategic review is

underway but no timetable has been set for its completion The Company also announced in February 2009 that

it has undertaken an initiative to reduce permanent headcount by approximately 10% and its contractor

workforce by approximately 75% while lowering certain discretionary spending

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2008 2008 2008 2008

Net revenue

Gross margin

Loss from continuing operations $5488 7172 7521 7124
Income from discontinued operations 1771 2906 1691 2002

Netloss $3717 $4266 $5830 $5122
Loss earnings per sharebasic and diluted

Continuing operations 0.37 0.48 0.51 0.48
Discontinued operations 0.12 0.20 0.11 0.13

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2007 2007 2007 2007

Net revenue

Gross margin

Loss from continuing operations $1896 3170 3286 3727
Income from discontinued operations 7897 $15237 $18290 $32932

Net income 6001 $12067 $15004 $29205

Loss earnings per sharebasic and diluted

Continuing operations 0.14 0.23 0.23 0.25
Discontinued operations 0.57 1.09 1.26 2.24
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STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Share Repurchase Program

During the third quarter of 2002 the Board of Directors authorized share repurchase program in effect for

one year period to acquire up to 1.5 million shares of the Company common stock in the open market at

times and prices considered appropriate by the Company The share buyback program was initiated during the

fourth quarter of 2002 and during the program the Company purchased 482.308 shares at an aggregate cost of

approximately $2.1 million The share repurchase program terminated during the third quarter of 2003

Common Stock Warrants

In January 2004 in connection with three-year strategic OEM agreement with channel partner related to

its legacy router business the Company issued warrant to purchase 800.000 shares of the Companys common
stock at an exercise price of $6.03 per share as adjusted for the $2.00 special cash dividend paid on June 22
2007 to common stockholders of record on June 11 2007 The

agreement provided the channel partner with the

ability but not the obligation to purchase equipment and services from the Company for its own use or for

resale The warrant is non-forfeitable has term of approximately seven years from the date of issuance and is

exercisable thereafter The right to exercise the warrant may have been accelerated if the channel partner

achieved certain performance milestones or may be accelerated upon change in control at the discretion of the

Company

Equity-Based Compensation Plans

The Company currently has three stock incentive plans the Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive

Plan the 1997 Plan and the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option and Incentive Plan the 2000 Plan
and the 2008 Global Stock Plan 2008 Plan total of approximately 3.3 million shares of common stock

have been reserved for issuance under these plans The 2008 Plan is the only plan under which new awards are

currently being issued The maximum number of shares with respect to which awards may be granted to any

employee under the 2008 Plan shall not exceed 650.000 shares of common stock during any calendar year The

awards granted under the 2008 Plan expire no later than seven years from the date of grant Shares not yet issued

under the 2000 Plan and 1997 Plan and shares that are cancelled forfeited or terminated under those plans are not

available under the 2008 Plan

The Plans provide for the grant of stock-based awards to Soapstones employees officers directors

consultants and advisors Under the Plans the Company may grant options that are intended to qualify as

incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code options not intended to

qualify as incentive stock options restricted stock and other stock-based awards Incentive stock options may be

granted only to employees of Soapstone

2000 Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plan

In May 2007 the Companys stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2000 Nonemployee

Director Stock Option Plan the Director Plan total of 130.000 shares of common stock had been

authorized for issuance under the Director Plan On January of each year commencing with January 2008
the aggregate number of shares available for grant under the plan were to automatically increase by the number

of shares necessary to cause the total number of shares then available for
grant to be 30.XXJ shares However in

2008 the Director Plan was discontinued and all future
grants will be made under the nev 2008 Plan
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Option Grants

Option activity under all stock option plans is as follows

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Number of Exercise Contractual

Shares Price Term

Outstanding December 31 2005 3.701.480 $f65 7.3

Granted 834.600 5.00

Exercised 920.617 4.14

ForfeitedCancelled 1.137.098 7.73

Outstanding December 31 2006 2478365 $6.68 7.4

Granted 1265450 6.75

Exercised 1001.578 5.02

ForfeitedCancelled 321.757 9.47

Outstanding December 31 2007 2.420.480 $7.04 7.9

Granted 1.410250 5.75

Exercised 50.877 4.69

ForfeitedCancelled 516200 8.34

Outstanding December 31 2008 3.263.653 $6.31 7.6

The following table summarizes information relating to outstanding and exercisable stock options as of

December 31 2008

Options Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted

Number of Average Remaining
Shares Outstanding at Contractual Weighted Average Number of Weighted Average

Exercise Price December 31200$ Life in years Exercise Pike Shares Exercise Price

2.15-3.54 281.281 6.6 2.79 50.015 3.03

3.55-3.55 379.492 6.3 3.55 346.992 3.55

3.81-4.68 369.617 7.0 4.46 167630 4.66

4.80-5.91 153941 5.9 5.51 90.604 5.71

6.08-6.08 742.173 8.3 6.08 278.364 6.08

6.10-6.72 58384 6.2 6.36 19.884 6.15

6.76-6.76 725.750 9.4 6.76 105807 6.76

6.80-8.18 328.538 8.1 7.52 130.901 7.63

8.27-15.91 183.445 5.9 10.02 123.711 10.21

15.91-76.92 41.032 2.4 45.45 41032 45.45

2.15-76.92 3.263.653 7.6 6.31 1.354.940 6.89
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The aggregate intnnsic value of outstanding options calculated as the difference between the market value

01 the Companys common stock as of December 31 2008 and the exercise price was less than $0.1 million of

hich none were vested The intrinsic alue of options exercised calculated as the difference between the market

value of the shares on the exercise date and the exercise price of the option was SO million S4.I million and

SI .9 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

As of December 31 2008 total unrecognized compensation cost was approximatelY S2 million related to

unvested stock-based compensation arrangements granted under the Companys stock plans and is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of less than one year

fl Restricted Stock Grants

In 2005 and 2006 the Company granted 72.00 and 92.5X shares respectively of performance-based

restricted stock to certain key employees of the Company The performance criteria were met in 2007 and

accordingly all unamortized expenses associated with such grants were expensed The total charges associated

with restricted stock grants were $0.3 million and Sl.0 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively

gI 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

total of 187.500 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance under the 2000 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan The plan contains consecutive overlapping 24-month offering periods Each offering period

includes four consecutive six-month purchase periods Eligible employees may purchase common stock at

price equal to 85 of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock il at the beginning of the offering

period or lii at the end of the purchase period whichever is lower Participation is limited to l0- of the

employees eligible compensation not to exceed 525.000 per calendar year or amounts allowed by the Internal

Revenue Code In addition the plan limits the number of shares available to purchase at each purchase date to

500 shares per participant On January of each year commencing with January 1.2001 the aggregate number

of shares of common stock available for purchase under the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan will

automatically increase by the number of shares necessary to cause the total number of shares then available for

purchase to be 187.500 shares During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 Soapstone sold

42.205 shares 23.625 shares and 31.700 shares respectively to employees under the 2000 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan

Shareholder Rights Agreement

On December 2001 the Board of Directors enacted stockholder rights agreement and declared

dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock outstanding at the

close of business on December 17 2001 to the stockholders of record on that date Each stockholder of record as

of December 17 2001 received summary of the rights and any new stock certificates issued after the record

date contain legend describing the rights Each preferred share purchase right entitles the registered holder to

purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of share of Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock par

value $0.01 per share at price of SI 60.00 per one one-thousandth of Preferred Share subject to adjustment

upon the occurrence of certain triggering events including the purchase of or more of Soapstones

outstanding common stock by third party Until triggering event occurs the common stockholders have no

right to purchase shares under the stockholder rights agreement If the right to purchase the preferred stock is

triggered the common stockholders will have the ability to purchase sufficient stock to significantly dilute the

57 or greater holder
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RESTRUCTURING AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

The Company recorded restructuring charges of approximatel S0.3 million and Sl0.7 million in 2X7 and

2006 respectively associated with workforce reduction retention plan excess inentor\ impairment and other

Costs All such charges ere incurred in our 1egac router operation hich is retlected as discontinued

operations

INCOME TAXES

The Compan accounts tor income taxes in accordance with SFAS .o 109 Accounting for Income Taxes

Under SFAS No 109 deferred tax assets or liabilities are computed based on the difference between the

financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates Deferred

income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset ar liability from period to period

In 2008 and 2X7 the Company recognized S0.5 million current benefit and Sl.2 million current

provision respectively for federal and state income taxes after gi ing benefit to the utilization of net operating

loss carryforwards As of December 2X8 Soapstone had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and

state income tax purposes of approximately S311.5 million and S159.4 million respectively Asof December 31

2007 Soapstone had net operating loss carrtorwards for federal and state inconie tax purposes of approximately

S294.l million and 154.9 million respectively Approximately 18.5 million of the Companys net operating

loss carryforwards relate tax deductions associated with the Companys stock option plans hich will be

benefited through stockholders equity if realized The federal net operating loss carry forwards begin to expire in

2012 and state net operating loss carrvforwards began to expire in 2007 As of December 31 2008 the Company

has gross federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of approximately SI 2.7 million and S9.9 million

respectively which will begin to expire in 2012 As of December 31 2008 the Company also has AMT credit

carryforwards of Sl.2 million

The utilization of the net operating loss and research tax credit cam forwards may be subject to annual

limitations based on changes in the nership of the Compan This limitation is determined based upon the

Companys value immediatel prior to an nership change Based upon limited re ie of the historical

changes in ownership the Company does not believe there are an limitations to the usage of its net operating

loss research tax credit and .AMT credit carrvfor ard The Company intends to undertake more complete

re ie of the changes in nership to determine hether there ma have been changes in ownership which

might limit the use of the net operating loss research tax credit and AMT credit car forwards
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The approximate income tax effects of each type of temporary differences and carryforwards are as follows

December31

2OO O7
Deferred Tax Assets

Net operating loss carryforwards 116.288 109.969

Research and AMT credit carrvforwards 20.254 18.801

Depreciation 2.273 1.751

Inventory 1.416

Stock Compensation 2.273 1125

Other accruals 988 1301

Gross deferred tax assets 142.076 134.363

Valuation allowance 142076 134363

Total deferred tax asset

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax asset

lhe Company has concluded based on its historical tax position and operating results that realization of the

deferred tax assets does not meet the more likely than not criteria under SFAS No 109 Due to the uncertainty

surrounding the realization of the deferred tax assets the Company has provided full valuation allowance

against these amounts at December 31 2008 and 2007 If in the future based on information available and in

accordance with SFAS No 109 the Company releases portion or all of its valuation allowance on its deferred

tax assets then tax benefit would be recorded in that period

reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the Companys effective tax rate follows

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Benefit of net operating losses utilized 33.7 33.1

Change in valuation allowance 34.4

Other net 2.0 0.7

2.6% 2.0% 1.9%

The Company has conducted business overseas as result one or more of its subsidiaries files income tax

returns in various jurisdictions outside of the U.S The Company generally remains subject to examination of its

various income tax returns in its significant jurisdictions outside the U.S after the date the return was tiled There

are presently no examinations of returns filed in any of the jurisdictions and the Company has not been notified

of any pending examinations
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The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 FIN 48 as of January 2007 The

total amount of unrecognized tax benefits at January 2007 and December 31 2007 was less than $0.2 million

During 2008 there was settlement of approximately $0.2 million as result of the expiration of the statute of

limitations Interest and penalty charges if any related to unrecognized tax benefits would be classified as

income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations At Januars 2007 and

December 31 2007 the Company did not have
any interest or penalties accrued related to uncertain tax positions

As of December 31 2008 there is no liability for unrecognized tax benefits The activity associated with

unrecognized tax benefit is as follows

2008 2007

Beginning of the year 162 $162

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 162
Settlements

Balance at the end of the
year $162

The Companys returns for 2005 and 2006 were examined by the Internal Revenue Service and accepted as

filed However since the Company is in tax loss carryforward position the Company is generally subject to

U.S federal state and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for all years for which loss

carryforward is available

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Soapstone has 401k Plan that provides for eligible employees to make contributions on tax-deferred

basis All employees on the first day of the month following their date of employment are eligible to participate

in the 401k Plan Contributions are limited to l57c of their annual compensation as defined subject to certain

IRS limitations The Company may contribute to the Plan at its discretion Employer contributions to the Plan

were $0.2 million at both December 31 2008 and December 31 2007

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

Future minimum payments due under lease agreements at December 31 2008 are as follows

Operating

2009 744

2010 635

2011 663

2012 692

2013 720

2014 680

Total payments 134
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Rent expense
from operating leases included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

as approximately $0.8 million Sl.0 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively In addition associated with the leases the Company is obligated to pay common area

maintenance charges and real estate taxes which could vary each year

Guarantees and Product Warranties

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No 45 FIN 45 Guarantors

Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of

Others requires certain guarantees to be recorded at fair value as opposed to the current practice of recording

liability only when loss is probable and reasonably estimable and also requires guarantor to make significant

nev guaranty disclosures even when the likelihood of making any payments under the guarantee is remote The

lollo ing summary of agreements that the Company has determined to be within the scope of FIN 45

In the normal course of business the Company may agree to indemnify other parties including customers

lessors and parties to other transactions with the Company with respect to certain matters The Company has

agreed to hold these other parties harmless against losses arising from breach of representations or covenants

or other claims made against certain parties Historically payments made by the Company if any under these

agreements have not had material impact on the Companys operating results or financial position

The Company established warranty reserves for costs expected to be incurred after its final router product

sale and delivery for deficiencies as required under specific product warranty provisions The warranty reserxes

were determined based on the actual trend of historical charges incurred oer the prior twelve-month period

excluding any significant or infrequent issues which are specifically identified and reserved for The warranty

liability is established when it is probable that customers will make claims and when reasonable estimate of

costs can be made Warranty reserves at December 31 2007 are included in Accrued other in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets All warranties activities are associated with the legacy router

operations which are reported as discontinued operations

2008 2007

Product warranty liability beginning of year 299 284

Warranties issued during the period 549

Settlements made during the period ._4
Product warranty liability end of year S299

Litigation

Twelve purported securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and one or more of the

Companys underwriters in its initial public offering and certain officers and directors of the Company The

lawsuits alleged violations of the federal securities laws and were docketed in the U.S District Court for the

Southern District of New York the Court as Felien et al Avici Systems Inc. et al. C.A

No O1-CV-3363 Lefkoitz et al Avici Systems Inc. et al. C.A No 01-CV-354l Lewis et al Avici

Systems Inc. et al. CA No Ol-CV-3698 Mandel et al Avici Systems Inc. etal. C.A No Ol-CV-37l3

Minai et al Avici Systems Inc. ct al. C.A No Ol-CV-3870 Steinberg et al Avici Systems Inc. et al.

C.A No 0l-CV-3983 Pelissier et al Avici Systems Inc. et al. C.A No Ol-CV-4204 Esther et al Avici
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Systems Inc. et al. C.A No 0l-CV-4352 Zhous et al Avici Systems Inc et al. C.A No Ol-CV-4494

Mammen et al Avici Systems Inc. et al. C.A No 0l-CV-5722 Lin et al Avici Systems Inc. et al.

C.A No 0l-CV-5674 and Shives et al Banc of America Securities et al. C.A No 0l-CV-4956 On

April 19 2002 consolidated amended class action complaint the Complaint which superseded these twelve

purported securities class action lawsuits was filed in the Court The Complaint is captioned In re ici

Systems Inc Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 9201 Civ 3363 SAS and names as

defendants the Company certain of the underwriters of the Companys initial public offering and certain of the

Companys officers and directors The Complaint which seeks unspecified damages alleges violations of the

federal securities laws including among other things that the underwriters of the Companys initial public

offering iPO improperly required their customers to pay the underwriters excessive commissions and to agree

to buy additional shares of stock in the aftermarket as conditions of receiving shares in the Companys IPO The

Complaint further claims that these supposed practices of the underwriters should have been disclosed in the

Companys IPO prospectus and registration statement In addition to the Complaint against the Company

various other plaintiffs have filed other substantially similarclass action cases against approximately 300 other

publicly traded companies and their IPO underwriters in New York City which along with the case against the

Company have all been transferred to single federal district judge for
purposes

of case management The

Company and its officers and directors believe that the claims against the Company lack merit and have

defended the litigation vigorously In that regard on July 15 2002 the Company together with the other issuers

named as defendants in these coordinated proceedings filed collective motion to dismiss the consolidated

amended complaints against them on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants

On October 2002 the Court dismissed without prejudice all claims against the individual current and

former officers and directors who were named as defendants in our litigation and they are no longer parties to

the lawsuit On February 19 2003 the Court issued its ruling on the motions to dismiss filed by the issuer

defendants and separate motions to dismiss filed by the underwriter defendants In that ruling the Court granted

in part and denied in part those motions As to the claims brought against the Company under the antifraud

provisions of the securities laws the Court dismissed all of these claims with prejudice and refused to allow the

plaintiffs an opportunity to re-plead these claims against the Company As to the claims brought under the

registration provisions of the securities laws which do not require that intent to defraud be pleaded the Court

denied the motion to dismiss these claims as to the Company and as to substantially all of the other issuer

defendants as well The Court also denied the underwriter defendants motion to dismiss in all respects

In June 2003 the Company elected to participate in proposed settlement agreement with the plaintiffs in

this litigation If the proposed settlement had been approved by the Court it would have resulted in the dismissal

with prejudice of all claims in the litigation against the Company and against any of the other issuer defendants

who elected to participate in the proposed issuer settlement together with the current or former officers and

directors of participating issuers who were named as individual defendants This proposed settlement was

conditioned on among other things ruling by the District Court that the claims against the Company and

against the other issuers who had agreed to the settlement would be certified for class action treatment for

purposes of the proposed settlement such that all investors included in the proposed classes in these cases would

be txund by the terms of the settlement unless an investor opted to be excluded from the settlement

On December 2006 the U.S Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit issued decision that six purported

class action lawsuits containing allegations substantially similar to those asserted against the Company may not

be certified as class actions due in part to the Appeals Courts determination that individual issues of reliance

and knowledge would predominate over issues common to the proposed classes On January 2007 the
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plaintiffs tiled petition seeking rehearing en banc of this ruling On April 2007 the Court of Appeals denied

the plaintiffs petition for rehearing of the Courts December 2006 ruling but noted that the plaintiffs remained

free to ask the District Court to certify classes different from the ones originally proposed which might meet the

standards for class certification that the Court of Appeals articulated in its December 2006 decision

In light of the Court of Appeals December 2006 decision regarding certification of the plaintiffs claims

the District Court entered an order on June 25 2007 terminating the proposed settlement between the plaintiffs

and the issuers including the Company On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs tiled amended complaints in the six

focus cases On November 13 2007 the issuer defendants and the underwriter defendants separately moved to

dismiss the claims against them in the amended complaints in the six focus cases On March 26 2008 the

District Court issued an order in which it denied in substantial pan the motions to dismiss the amended

complaints in the six focus cases

In Februar 2009 an agreement-in-principle to settle the litigation in its entiret a.s reached which

agreement will be subject to negotiation tiling with the District Court of definitive settlement documents and

final approval by the District Court While we can make no promises or guarantees as to the outcome of these

proceedings the Company does not believe that loss is probable or reasonably estimable as of the balance sheet

date

In addition the Company received letters dated July 13 2007 and July 25 2007 from putative shareholder

demanding that the Company investigate and prosecute claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of

Section 16b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the underwriters of its initial public offering IPO
and certain unidentified directors officers and shareholders of the Company The Company evaluated the

demand and declined to prosecute the claim On October 2007 the putative shareholder commenced civil

lawsuit in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Washington against the lead underwriters of the

Companys IPO alleging violations of Section 16b The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares

of the Companys common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriters and certain unnamed officers

directors and principal shareholders exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of the

Companys IPO on July 28 2000 through at least July 27 2001 It further alleges that those entities and

individuals were thus subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16a and the short-swing trading

prohibition of Section 16b and failed to comply with those provisions The complaint seeks to recover from the

lead underwriters any short-swing profits obtained by them in violation of Section 16b The Company was

named as nominal defendant in the action but has no liability for the asserted claims No directors or officers of

the Company are named as defendants in this action On October 29 2007 the case was reassigned to Judge

James Robart On February 27 2008 the putative shareholder filed an Amended Complaint asserting

substantially similarclaims as those set forth in the initial complaint On July 25 2008 the Company joined with

29 other issuers to file the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to dismiss Plaintiff filed her opposition to this motion

on September 2008 and the Issuer Defendants Reply in Support of Their Joint Motion to Dismiss was tiled

on October 23 2008 Oral argument on all motions to dismiss was held on January 16 2009 at which time the

Judge took the pending motions to dismiss under advisement The Judge has stayed discovery until he rules on all

motions to dismiss The Company believes that the outcome of this litigation will not have material adverse

impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

In addition we are subject to legal proceedings claims and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of

business such as but not limited to patent employment commercial and environmental matters Although there

can be no assurance there are no such matters pending that we expect to be material with respect to our business

financial position or results of operations
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SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

December 31 2008

all tabular amounts in thousands except share and per share data

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In February 2009 the Company announced that it had engaged an investment banker to assist in exploring

strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There can be no assurance that

the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in any agreements or transactions or that if completed any

agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys strategic review is

underway but no timetable has been set for its completion The Company also announced in February 2009 that

it has undertaken an initiative to reduce permanent headcount by approximately 10% and its contractor

workforce by approximately 75% while lowering certain discretionary spending

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

March31 June30 September30 December31
2008 2008 2008 2008

57172 57521 S7124

______
2906 1691 2002

54266 55830 S5122

0.37 0.48 0.51 0.48

0.12 0.20 0.11 0.13

September 30 December 31
2007 2007

$3286 $3727

______ ______ $18290 $32932

$15004 $29205

0.23 0.25

1.26 2.24

55488
1771

$3717

Net revenue

Gross margin

Loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net loss

Loss earnings per sharebasic and diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net revenue

Gross margin

Loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income

Loss earnings per sharebasic and diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

March31 June30
2007 2007

S1896

7.897

6.001

53170
$15237

$12067

0.14 0.23

0.57 1.09
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Soapstone under the supervision and with the participation
of the Company management including the

principal executive officer and principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of the Companys

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report the Evaluation

Date pursuant to Rule 13a-15b and 15d-15b promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the Exchange Act Based on this evaluation Soapstones principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have concluded that as of the Evaluation Date the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures effectively ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings and submissions under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms including ensuring that such information is accumulated

and communicated to Soapstones management including the Companys principal executive officer and

principal tinancial officer as appropriate to allo timel deciions regarding required disclosure

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

The Company has continued to make enhancements to its internal controls over financial reporting to meet

its compliance requirements pursuant to Section 404 of Sarhanes-Oxley

There were no changes in Soapstones internal control oer financial reporting during the Companys last

fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonahl likeI to materially affect Soapstones internal

control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We arc responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 3a- and Rule Sd- 15f promulgated under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as process designed or under the supervision of our principal executive

and principal financial officers and effected by our board of directors management and other personnel to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of our assets

pros
ide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessar to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance ith generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts

and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and our

directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use

or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Our internal control stern as designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of

directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements Because of its inherent
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limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

We have assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 In making this assessment we used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based

on our assessment we believe that as of December 31 2008 our internal control over financial reporting is

effective at reasonable assurance level based on these criteria
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Soapstone Networks the Company

We have audited Soapstone Networks Inc internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwav Commission the COSO criteria Soapstone Networks Inc.s

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companYs assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of
any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Soapstone Networks Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Soapstone Networks Inc as of December 31 2008 and 2007

and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2008 of Soapstone Networks Inc and our report dated March 10 2009

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is/ Ernst Young LLP

Boston Massachusetts

March 10 2009
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to our Definitive Proxy

Statement with
respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to our Definitive Proxy

Statement with respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to our Definitive Proxy

Statement with respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 under the heading

of Ownership of Management and Directors and Equity Compensation Plan Information

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to our Definitive Proxy

Statement with respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to our Definitive Proxy

Statement with respect to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2008

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K

All Financial Statements see Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data at Item and

incorporated herein by reference

Financial Statement Schedules see Schedule IlValuation and Qualifying Accounts which is included

herein by reference

Exhibits
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The following exhibits are filed as part of and incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K

Exhibit

Number Description ol Document

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our

Registration Statement on Form S-I File No 333-37316 which is incorporated herein

reference

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company

previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2002 filed with

the Commission on March 28 2003 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference

3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Company

previously filed as Exhibit 3.3 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2002 filed with

the Commission on March 28 2003 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein

reference

3.4 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series Junior Participating Preferred

Stock of the Company previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to our Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2002 filed with the Commission on March 28 2002 File No 000-30865 which is

incorporated herein by reference

3.5 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to our

Registration Statement on Form S-I File No 333-373 16 which is incorporated herein by

reference

4.1 Specimen certificate representing the Companys Common Stock previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to

our Form 0-K for the year ended December 31 2002 filed with the Commission on March 28

2003 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

4.2 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of January 2004 issued to Nortel Networks Limited

by the Company previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on

January 2004 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

4.3 Shareholder Rights Agreement dated as of December 2001between the Company and Mellon

Investor Services LLC as Rights Agent previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K tiled with

the Commission on December 2001 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference

10.1 Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan as amended previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to

our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 filed with the Commission on March 13

2008 file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.2 Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option and Incentive Plan as amended previously filed as

Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 filed with the Commission on

March 13 2008 file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.3 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 filed with the Commission on March 13 2008

file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.4 Amended and Restated 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan as amended previously

filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 filed with the

Commission on March 13 2008 file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibit

Number Descripdon of Document

10.5 2008 Global Stock Plan previously filed as Appendix to our Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A

filed with the Commission on April 25 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference

10.6 Executive Incentive Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.23 to our Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2007 filed with the Commission on March 13 2008 file No 000-30865 which is

incorporated herein by reference

10.7 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form lO-Q for

the quarterly period ended June 30 2008 filed with the Commission on August 2008

file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.8 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form l0-Q

br the quarterly period ended June 30 2008 filed with the Commission on August 2008

file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.9 Form of Non-Employee Director Automatic Grant Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement

previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30 2008

filed with the Commission on August 2008 file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference

10.10 Form of Stock Restriction Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Form l0-Q for the

quarterly period ended June 30 2008 filed with the Commission on August 2008 file

No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.11 Form of Indemnification Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on December 20 2006 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference

10.12 Lease dated May 15 2008 between Company and RREEF AMERICA REIT III-Z LLC

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form lO-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30 2008

filed with the Commission on August 2008 file No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein

reference

10.13 Lease dated July 10 2007 between Company and BBC Equity Partners LLC previously filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to our Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2007 filed with the Commission on

August 2007 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.14 Seerance Pay Agreement dated March 15 2006 with William Leighton previously filed as

Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 15 2006 File No 000-30865

which is incorporated herein by reference as amended by Amendment to Severance Pay

Agreement dated as of December 29 2008 previously tiled as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed

with the Commission on December 29 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein

reference

10.15 Severance Pa Agreement dated August 28 2006 with William Stuart previously tiled as

Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed ith the Commission on September 2006 File

No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference as amended by Amendment to

Severance Pay Agreement dated as of December 29.2008 previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our

Form 8-K filed vith the Commission on December 29 2008 File No XX-308fi5 v.hich is

incorporated herein by reference
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.16 Amended and Restated Severance Pay Agreement dated November 2006 with T.S Ramesh

previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form I0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006 tiled

with the Commission on November 2006 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference as amended by Amendment to Severance Pay Agreement dated as of December 29

2008 previously tiled as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 29
2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.17 Severance Pay Agreement dated February 28 2006 between the Company and Esmeralda Swartz

previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008 filed with

the Commission on May 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

as amended by Amendment to Severance Pay Agreement dated as of December 29 2008

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 29 2008

File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.18 Retention Bonus Agreement dated February 28 2006 between Company and Esmeralda Swartz

previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008 filed with

the Commission on May 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.19 Severance Pay Agreement dated July 14 2008 between the Company and Michael Cayer

previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form l0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2008 filed

with the Commission on November 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference as amended by Amendment to Severance Pay Agreement dated as of December 29
2008 previously tiled as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 29
2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

10.20 Severance Pay Agreement dated October 16 2008 between the Company and Donald Wadas

previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2008 filed

with the Commission on November 2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by

reference as amended by Amendment to Severance Pay Agreement dated as of December 29
2008 previously tiled as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 29
2008 File No 000-30865 which is incorporated herein by reference

21.1 Subsidiaries of Soapstone Networks Inc

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

24.1 Power of Attorney included as part of the signature page
of this Report

31 .1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Indicates management contract or any compensatory plan contract or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

By 1sf WILLIAM STUART

William Stuart

Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and

Senior Vice President of Finance

Date March 10 2009
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POWER OF ATfORNEY ANDsI
We the undersigned officers and directors of Soapstone Networks Inc. hereby severally constitute and

appoint William Stuart our true and lawful attorney with full power to him to sign for us in our names in the

capacities indicated below any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K including post-effective

aniendments and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally to do all things in our names and on our behalf in our

capacities as officers and directors to enable Soapstone Networks Inc. to comply with the provisions ot the

Securities Act ot 1933 as amended hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as the may be signed our

said attorneys or any of them to said Annual Report and all amendments thereto

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 this Annual Report on Form

signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the date indicated

Signature Title

10-K has been

Date

1sf RICHARD LIEBHABER Chairman and Director March 10 2009

Richard Liebhaber

/51 Wii.ussi LEIGhToN

William Leighton

/51 WILLIAM STUART

William Stuart

Is T.S RAMESH

Ramesh

/51 ROBERT SCHECHTER

Robert Schechter

Chief Executive Officer and Director

principal executive officer

Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and

Senior Vice President of Finance

principal financial officer

Vice President of Finance principal

accounting officer

Director

March 10 2009

March 10 2009

March 10 2009

March 10 2009

Is WILLIAM INGRAM

William Ingram

Director March 10 2009
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON DC 20549

FORM 1O-Q

Mark One

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31 2009

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission tile number 000-30865

SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC
tExact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter

Delaware 02-0493372

State or Other Jurisdiction I.R.S EmpIoer
of Organization Identification No

Federal Street
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Address of Principal Executi.e Offlces Zip Code
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PART FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS
unaudited

\larch 31 December 31
2009 200S

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equialents 76.272 83.124

Marketable securities 6.028 6.042

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 918 1.245

Total current assets 83.2 18 90.411

Property and equipment net 3.96 4.289

Prepaid rents and other non-current assets 533 537

Total assets 87.711 95.237

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 1.124 1.357

Accrued payroll and payroll-related costs 1.608 1.254

Other accrued expenses 354 448

Total current liabilities 3.086 3.059

Commitments and continencies

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock SOOl par value Authorized 5.000.0X shares Issued and

outstanding none

Common stock S0.000l par value Authorized 250.000.0X shares Issued

15.440.267 shares at March 31 2009 and 15.440.267 shares at

December 31 2008

Additional paid-in capital 491.713 491 .134

Common stock warrants 6.321 6.321

Treasury stock at cost 573.397 shares 2.870 2.870

Accumulated dehcit 410.541 402409

Total stockholders equity
84.625 92.1 78

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 87.711 95.237

See accompanying notes



SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

1N THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS
unaudited

3.642

1.256

__________
1.531

__________
6.429

6.429

_________
941

5.488

1.771

__________
3.717

___________
0.37

_________
0.12

__________
0.25

__________
14.792.089

Includes non-cash stock-based compensation associated vith stock option grants as follows

Discontinued operations

Research and development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Three Months Ended

Mardi 31

2009 2008

--Total re enue

Total cost of revenue

Gross margin

Operating expenses

Research and development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations before interest

Interest income net

Loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net loss

Loss
per

basic and diluted share from continuing operations

Income
per basic and diluted share from discontinued operations

Net loss
per basic and diluted

Weighted aerage common shares

Basic and diluted

4.233

2.230

1.878

8.341

S.341

209

8.132

8132

0.55

0.55

14.866.870

231

162

186

23

205

114

161

See accompanying notes



SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
IN THOUSANDS

unaudited

Three Months Ended

Mardi 31

2008

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss 58132 53.717

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in provided by

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 478 717

Stock-based compensation 579 503

Gain on sale of fixed assets 87

Changes in current assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 9007

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 327 204

Prepaid rents and other non-current assets

Accounts payable 233 2.340

Accrued payroll and payroll related 354 2.607

Accrued other 94 37
Deferred revenue 256

Net cash used in provided by operating activities 6.717 1899

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Maturity of marketable securities 14 5.970

Purchases of property and equipment 149 625
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 87

Net cash used in provided by investing activities 135 5432

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from employee stock plans 183

Cash provided by financing activities 183

Net decrease increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.852 7514

Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Period 83124 88.903

Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Period $76272 596.417

See accompanying notes



SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

unaudited

all tabular amounts are in thousands except share and per share data

NOTE BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited financial information included herein has been prepared Soapstone Networks Inc. pursuant to

the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC and includes the accounts of

Soapstone Networks Inc and its subsidiaries .Soapstone or the Company Certain information and footnote

disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles have been condensed or omitted in accordance with such rules and regulations In the opinion of the

Company the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments consisting only of normal

recurring adjustments necessary for fair presentation of the financial position at March 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 and the operating results and cash flows for the periods ended March 31 2009 and 2008

These consolidated financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the Companys

consolidated audited financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31 2008 which appear

in the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed ith the SEC on March 10 2009 and as amended by the

filing of the Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K/A on April 30 2009 The consolidated balance sheet at

December 31 2X8 has been deried from the audited consolidated financial statements as of that date

The results of operations for the three months ended March 31 2009 are not necessarily indicative of results that

may be expected for any other interim period or for the full fiscal year ending December 31 2009

On March 19 2008 the Compan changed its name from Aici Systems Inc to Soapstone Net.orks Inc and

changed its NASDAQ ticker symbol from AVCI to SOAP

In February 2X9 the Compan announced that it had engaged an investment banker to assist in exploring

strategic alternaties available to the Compan for enhancing shareholder value There can be no assurance that

the exploration of strategic alternati es ill result in an agreements or transactions or that if completed an

agreements or transactions will be successful or on attracti\e terms The Companys strategic review is

underwa hut no timetable has been set for its completion

The Compan also announced in Februars 2009 that it had reduced Its permanent headcount by l07 and its

contractor orkforce approximately 75 in an initiatie to realign its cost structure and reduce its labor and

labor related costs The Compans recorded approximately S0.3 million of charges associated with this initiative

in the first quarter of 2XY

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

Soapstone has recorded revenue in accordance with Statement of Position No 97-2 Software Revenue

Recognition SOP 97-2j and all related interpretations The Company recognized revenue from pnxluct sales

upon shipment or delivery to customers including resellers provided that purchase order has been received or

contract has been executed there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance the sales price is fixed or

determinable and collectahility is deemed probable If uncertainties regarding customer acceptance existed the

Compan recognized reenue shen those uncertainties ere resolved For arrangements that included the

delien of multiple elements reenue as allocated to the arious elements based on endor-specific objectie

idencc of fair alue VSOE The Compan used the residual methxl hen VSOE did not exist for one of

the delivered elements in an arrangement Revenue from support and maintenance contracts was recognized

ratahl oer the period of the related agreements Revenue from installation and other services was recognized as



the work was performed Amounts collected or billed prior to satisfying the above revenue recognition criteria

were recorded as deferred revenue in the past All revenue recognized has been from the Companys legacy

router operation which is reflected as discontinued operations The Company has not recognized any revenue

from its continuing operations

Guarantees and Product Warranties

In the normal course of business the Company may agree to indemnify other parties including customers

lessors and parties to other transactions with the Company with respect to certain matters The Company may

agree to hold these other parties harmless against losses arising from breach of representations or covenants or

other claims made against certain parties Historically payments made by the Company if any under these

agreements have not had material impact on the Companys operating results or financial position

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company has classified its marketable securities as held-to-maturity and recorded them at amortized cost

which approximates market value Funds from marketable securities designated as held-to-maturity are not

available for immediate use The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of

three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include mone

market funds and certificates of deposit

Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following

March31 December31

2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents S76.272 S83.l24

Marketable securities 6028 6M2

Total S82.300 S89.166

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Net Income per Share

Basic net income loss per share is computed using the eighted-average number of common shares outstanding

during the period Diluted net income loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of

common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period Dilutie potential common

shares primarily consist of emploee stock options common stock warrants and restricted common stock The

dilutive effect of in-the-mone options and arrants is calculated based on the
average

share price for each fiscal

period using the treasurs stock method Basic and diluted net loss
per

share is the same for the periods ith net

loss and all outstanding emploee stock options common stock arrants and unvested restricted stock have been

excluded as they are considered anti-dilutive In situations here company reports continuing operations as

well as discontinued operations the shares used to determine basic or diluted earnings per
share is based on

earnings or loss associated kith continuing operations Since the Companys continuing operations generated

loss the diluted shares are the same as basic shares



Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 128 Earnings per
Share requires that employee equit% share

options non-vested shares and similarequity instruments granted by the Company be treated as potential

common shares outstanding in computing diluted earnings per common share

Comprehensive Income

SFAS No 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income requires disclosure of all components of comprehensive

income loss on an annual and interim basis Comprehensive income loss is defined as the change in equity of

business enterpnse during period from transactions and other events and circumstances involving non-owner

sources During all periods presented the Company did not have any items of comprehensive income other than

its reported net income loss

Discontinued Operations

As previously announced the Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products making

its last shipments in December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008

Accordingly the Company has disclosed its historical activities associated with its legacy router products and

ser\ ices as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Prior period operating results

associated with such legacy products and services include adjustments to reflect its presentation as discontinued

operations Income from discontinued operations include revenue cost of revenue and other income

The Company assets in the balance sheets presented relate to continuing operations Property plant and

equipment associated with discontinued operations have zero net book value since the end of 2008 and will be

written off once such assets are abandoned later in 2009 Substantially all of the liabilities and accrued expenses

in the balance sheets presented relate to continuing operations

Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information establishes standards for

reporting information regarding operating segments and establishes standards for related disclosures about

products and services and geographic areas Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise

about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision

maker or decision making group in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance

During the Companys transition from its legacy business the chief operating decision maker or decision making

group
commenced assessing performance and allocation of resources between its legacy core router product and

service and its Soapstone product development Accordingly commencing in 2007 Soapstone operated in two

operating segments core router and Soapstone However since the Company has begun disclosing its legacy

router operations as discontinued operations the Company has concluded that it has reverted to operating in only

one segment the Soapstone segment The discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31 2008

included router related revenue nearly all of which was derived from one customer namely ATT

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records its share-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 123R SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment which establishes accounting for

equity instruments exchanged for employee services Under the provisions of SFAS No 23R share-based

compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the calculated fair value of the award and is

recognized as an expense over the employees requisite service period generally the vesting period of the equity

grant under the accelerated attribution method



The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model Key input

assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options include the exercise price of the award the expected

option term the expected olatilit of the Companys stock over the options expected term the risk-free interest

rate over the options expected term and the Companys expected annual dividend yield Expected volatilities

are based on blend of historical and implied volatilities of our common stock The expected term represents the

eighted average period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to

esting schedules and our historical exercise patterns Risk-free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in

effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding ith the expected term of the option

In the three months ended March 31 2X9 the Compan granted options to purchase 69.5X shares of common

stock at weighted average exercise price of S2.80 per share The weighted average fair value of these grants

as 1.59 per share estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following key assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 1.S4 Volatility 77.51% Expected term 3.82 year and Expected Dividend 0%

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 Revised 2007 Business Combinations SFAS l4lR
SFAS l4lR retains the fundamental requirements in FASB Statement 141 that the acquisition method of

accounting which Statement 141 called the purchase method be used for all business combinations and for an

acquirer to be identified for each business combination SFAS 141R requires an acquirer to recognize the assets

acquired the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date

measured at their fair values as of that date with limited exceptions specified in SFAS 141R That replaces

FASB Statement 141s cost-allocation process which required the cost of an acquisition to be allocated to the

individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values SFAS 141R will now

require acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred restructuring costs associated with business combination

must generally be expensed prior to the acquisition date and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances

and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense SFAS I4lR

applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is in fiscal
years beginning after

December 15 2008 Earlier adoption is prohibited The Company adopted this pronouncement in the first quarter

of 2009 The adoption of the provisions of SFAS l4lR did not have material impact on the Companys

financial position or results of operations

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS 160 SFAS 160 clarifies that noncontrolling or minority interest in subsidiary is

considered an ownership interest and accordingly requires all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as

equity in the consolidated financial statements SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2X8 The Company adopted this pronouncement in the first quarter of 2009 The adoption of the

provisions of SFAS 160 did not have material impact on the Companys financial position and results of

operations

NOTE FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In September2006 the FASB issued SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 SFAS 157 clarifies

the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an

asset or liability and establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those

assumptions Under the standard fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair

value hierarchy and is effective for the Companys fiscal year beginning January 2008 and for interim periods

within that year In February 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP No 157-2 Effective Date of

FASB Statement No 157 which delayed for one year the effective date of SFAS No 157 for nonfinancial

assets and nonfinancial liabilities except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial



statements on recurnng basis at least annually As required the Company adopted SFAS No 157 tor its

financial assets on January 2X8 and its non financial assets on January 2009 Adoption did not hase

material impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

SFAS No 157 establishes fair salue hierarchy that requires the use of observable market data sshen asailable

and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value in the follosing categoncs

Lesel I-Quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets

Level 2Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar

instruments in markets that are not actise and mxlel-derived saluations in shich all obsersable inputs and

significant value drivers are observable in active markets

Lesel 3Nkxlel densed valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant salue drisers are

unobservable including assumptions developed by the Company

All of the fair values of the Companys investment instruments presented in Note 2c were based on lesel

inputs as described above to determine their fair values as of March 31 2009

NOTE LITIGATION

Twelse purported securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and one or more of the

Companys underwriters in its initial public offering and certain officers and directors of the Company The

las% suits alleged violations of the federal securities laws and were docketed in the U.S District Court for the

Southern District of Nev York the Court as Felzen et al Avici Systems Inc et al C.A
No OI-CV-3363 Lefkowitz et al Avici Systems Inc. et al C.A No Ol-CV-354l Lewis et al .Av ici

Systems Inc et al. C.A No 0l-CV-3698 Mandel et al Avici Systems Inc. et al C.A No Ol-CV-37l3

Minai et al Avici Systems Inc. et al C.A No Ol-CV-3870 Steinberg et al Avici Systems Inc. et al

C.A No Ol-CV-3983 Pelissier et al Asici Systems Inc et al C.A No Ol-CV-4204 Esther et al Asici

Sstems Inc. et al. CA No Ol-CV-4352 Zhous ci al Avici Systems Inc ci al. CA No Ol-CV-4414

Mammen ci al Avici Systems Inc. et al C.A No 0l-CV-5722 Lin et al Avici Systenis Inc. ci al.

CA No Jl-CV-5674 and Shives etal Bane of America Securities etal. C.A No 01-CV-4956 On

April 19 2002 consolidated amended class action complaint the Complaint which superseded these ts else

purported securities class action lawsuits was filed in the Court The Complaint is captioned In re Avid

Systems Inc Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 92 01 Civ 3363 SAS and names as

defendants the Company certain of the underwriters of the Companys initial public offering and certain of the

Companys officers and directors The Complaint which seeks unspecified damages alleges violations of the

federal securities laws including among other things that the underwriters of the Companys initial public

offering IPO improperly required their customers to pay the underwriters excessive commissions and to agree

to hu additional shares of stock in the aftermarket as conditions of receiving shares in the Companys P0 The

Complaint further claims that these supposed practices of the underwriters should have been disclosed in the

Companys IPO prospectus and registration statement In addition to the Complaint against the Company
various other plaintiffs have tiled other substantially similar class action cases against approximately 300 other

publicly traded companies and their IPO underwriters in New York City which along with the case against the

Company have all been transferred to single federal district judge for purposes of case management The

Company and its officers and directors believe that the claims against the Company lack merit and have

defended the litigation vigorously In that regard on July 15 2002 the Company together with the other Issuers

named as defendants in these coordinated proceedings tiled collective motion to dismiss the consolidated

amended complaints against them on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants
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On October 2002 the Court dismissed without prejudice all claims against the indi idual current and former

ofticers and directors who were named as defendants in our litigation and they are no longer parties to the

lasuit On February 19 2003 the Court issued its ruling on the motions to dismiss tiled by the issuer defendants

and separate motions to dismiss tiled by the underwriter defendants In that ruling the Court granted in part and

denied in part those motions As to the claims brought against the Company under the antifraud provisions of the

securities la the Court dismissed all of these claims with prejudice and refused to allow the plaintiffs an

opportunity to re-plead these claims against the Company As to the claims brought under the registration

provisions of the securities laws which do not require that intent to defraud be pleaded the Court denied the

motion to dismiss these claims as to the Company and as to substantially all of the other issuer defendants as

elI The Court also denied the underwriter defendants motion to dismiss in all respects

In June 2003 the Company elected to participate in proposed settlement agreement with the plaintiffs in this

litigation If the proposed settlement had been approved by the Court it would have resulted in the dismissal

ith prejudice of all claims in the litigation against the Company and against any of the other issuer defendants

who elected to participate in the proposed settlement together with the current or former officers and directors o1

participating issuers ho were named as individual defendants This proposed settlement was conditioned on

among other things ruling by the District Court that the claims against the Company and against the other

issuers ho had agreed to the settlement would be certified for class action treatment for purposes of the

proposed settlement such that all investors included in the proposed classes in these cases would be bound by the

terms of the settlement unless an investor opted to be excluded from the settlement

On December 2006 the U.S Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit issued decision that six purported class

action lawsuits containing allegations substantially similar to those asserted against the Company may not be

certified as class actions due in part to the Appeals Courts determination that individual issues of reliance and

know ledge would predominate over issues common to the proposed classes On January 2007 the plaintiffs

filed petition seeking rehearing en bane of this ruling On April 2007 the Court of Appeals denied the

plaintiffs petition for rehearing of the Courts December 2006 ruling but noted that the plaintiffs remained

free to ask the District Court to certify classes different from the ones originally proposed which might meet the

standards for class certification that the Court of Appeals articulated in its December 2006 decision

In light of the Court of Appeals December 2006 decision regarding certification of the plaintiffs claims the

District Court entered an order on June 25 2007 terminating the proposed settlement between the plaintiffs and

the issuers including the Company On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs tiled amended complaints in the six focus

cases On November 13 2007 the issuer defendants and the underwriter defendants separately moved to dismiss

the claims against them in the amended complaints in the six focus cases On March 26 2008 the District Court

issued an order in which it denied in substantial part the motions to dismiss the amended complaints in the sI

focus cases

On February 25 2X9 the parties advised the District Court that they have reached an agreement-in-principle to

settle the litigation in its entiret\ stipulation of settlement was tiled with the District Court on April 2X
The proposed global settlement remains subject to preliminary and final approval by the District Court While we

can make no promises or guarantees as to the outcome of these proceedings the Company does not belies that

loss is probable or reasonably estimable as of the balance sheet date

In addition the Compan received letters dated Jul 13 2007 and JuI 25 2X7 from putative shareholder

demanding that the Company investigate and prosecute claim for alleged short-swing trading in iolation of

Section lôbof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the underwriters of its lPO and certain unidentified

directors officers and shareholders of the Company The Company evaluated the demand and declined to

prosecute the claim On October 2X7 the putative shareholder commenced civil lawsuit in the U.S District

Court for the Western District of Washington against the lead underwriters of the Compan lPO alleging

II



violations of Section 16th The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares of the Companys
common stock beneficially owned bs the lead under nters and certain unnamed ofticers directors and principal

shareholders exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of the Compan IPO on

July 28 2000 through at least July 27 2001 It further alleges that those entities and individuals were thus

subject to the reporting requirements of Section l6ai and the short-swing trading prohibition of Section l6tb

and failed to comply with those provisions The complaint seeks to recover from the lead under-writers any

short-swing profits obtained by them in violation of Section 16h The Company was named as nominal

defendant in the action but has no liability for the asserted claims No directors or officers of the Company are

named as defendants in this action On October 29 2007 the case was reassigned to Judge James Rohart along

with similar cases involving the IPOs of 53 other issuers These 54 actions were consolidated for pre-trial

purposes On February 27 2008 the putative shareholder filed an Amended Complaint asserting substantially

similarclaims as those set forth in the initial complaint On July 25 2008 the Compan joined with 29 other

issuers to file with the Court the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to dismiss The plaintiff filed her opposition to

this motion on September 2008 and the Issuer Defendants Reply in Support of Their Joint Motion to Dismiss

was filed on October 23 2008

On March 12 2009 Judge Robart granted the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to Dismiss dismissing the

complaint without prejudice on the grounds that the plaintiff had failed to make an adequate demand on the

Company prior to filing her complaint In its order the Court stated it would not permit the plaintiff to amend her

demand letters while pursuing her claims in the litigation Because the Court dismissed the case on the grounds

that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction it did not specifically reach the issue of whether the plaintiffs claims

were barred by the applicable statute of limitations However the Court also granted the Underwriters Joint

Motion to Dismiss with respect to cases involving non-moving issuers holding that the cases were barred by the

applicable statute of limitations because the issuers shareholders had notice of the potential claims more than

five years prior to filing suit

The plaintiff filed Notice of Appeal on April tO 2009 The plaintiffs opening brief in the appeal is currently

due on July 27 2009 with the Company and the underwriters responses due on August 25 2009 The plaintiff

may file reply brief on September 2009 The Company believes that the outcome of this litigation will not

have material adverse impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

In addition we are subject to legal proceedings claims and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of

business such as but not limited to patent employment commercial and environmental matters Although there

can be no assurance there are no such matters pending that we expect to be material with respect to our business

financial position or results of operations

NOTE SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Compan announced in April 2009 that it has undertaken an initiative to reduce its total headcount by

approximately 40 in order to reduce expenses and conserve cash in the current economic environment without

diminishing the overall value of the Company The Company expects to record charge of approximately $0.5

million associated with this initiative in the second quarter of 2009
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Except for the historical information contained herein certain matters discussed in this Report on Form lO-Q

constitute forward-looking statements that involve risks assumptions and uncertainties The Compan actual

results could differ materially from those stated or implied in forward-looking statements due to number of

factors including without limitation those discussed under the caption Risk Factors included in the Companys

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on March 10 2009 and as amended by the filing of the Amended Annual Report on Form

10-K/A on April 30 2009 and elsewhere herein Forward-looking statements include statements regarding the

future or the Companys expectations beliefs intentions or strategies regarding the future and may be identified

by the words anticipate believe could estimate expect intend may should will and

would and similarexpressions There may be events in the future that could affect these matters

Overview

Soapstone Networks Inc referred to as Soapstone Soapstone Networks we our us and the company is

developer of resource and service control software On March 19 2008 the company changed its name from

Avici Systems Inc to Soapstone Networks Inc The company was founded as provider of core router products

and in 2007 and 2008 transitioned to being developer of emerging software-based service and control solutions

for service providers next generation networks As of December 31 2008 the company had completely exited

the router business The companys operations are now solely focused on developing and marketing its

Soapstone Provider Network Controller PNCTS framework The Soapstone PNC framework is designed to help

service providers and enterprises connect their physical networking infrastructure to Next Generation Network

NGN software frameworks and deploy services across their networks by providing multi-vendor software-

based service control plane We are pursuing sales and marketing of the PNC directly through our field

organization as well as indirectly through distribution partners that may include network equipment providers

resellers system integrators and Operations Support Systems OSS vendors

During 2008 we completed the transition from our historical Avici router product business to our Soapstone

business including the change of name the change of NASDAQ ticker symbol from AVCI to SOAP and the

expiration of all support services for our historical core router products Although all of the companys revenue

to date has come from the router business the company has now exited the manufacture sale and support of its

core router products and expects no further revenue from this business which is disclosed as discontinued

operations

In February 2009 we announced that we have engaged an investment banker to assist the Company in exploring

strategic alternatives available to the Company for enhancing shareholder value There can be no assurance that

the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in any agreements or transactions or that if completed any

agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms The Companys strategic review is

underway but no timetable has been set for its completion

The Company announced in February 2009 that it had reduced its permanent headcount by l07 and its

contractor workforce by approximately 75c in an initiative to realign its cost structure and reduce its labor and

labor related costs In furtherance of this initiative and in order to reduce expenses and conserve cash in the

current economic enironment ithout diminishing the overall alue of the Company further reduction in its

total headcount by approximately 40 was announced by the Company in April 2009

Since our inception we have incurred significant losses As of March 31 2009 we had an accumulated deficit of

$410.5 million Historically we derived all of our revenue from sales and servicing of our legacy core router

products On April 18 2007 we announced that we were transitioning away from the manufacture sales and
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de elopment of core router products We do not expect any revenue from core router product sales and ser\ ice in

2X9 and beond We have not recorded any revenue from our Soapstone products and we anticipate that an
future reenue for the Company will be derived from the sales and support of our Soapstone products which are

currently under development and have not been fully tested in customer networks To date we have invested

sgniticant amounts in the development of our Soapstone products and we anticipate that our development

efforts will continue to require significant expenditures substantial portion of which we will make long before

any significant revenue related to these expenditures will be realized We do not expect to reach profitability in

2009 and may not achieve profitability going forward unless our Soapstone products achieve commercial

.uccess

Research and Development

Research and deelopment expenses consist primarily of salaries and related employee costscontractor costs

depreciation expense on laboratory equipment software maintenance and certain project costs In 2009 we

expect research and development expenses to decline as result of the Companys decision to realign its cost

structure and reduce its labor and labor related costs including through the Companys February and April 2009

reductions in workforce

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses have consisted primarily of salaries and related employee costs tradeshows travel

public relations and costs associated with other marketing events During the remainder of 2009 se expect to

decrease our spending primarily in marketing as result of the Companys decision to realign its cost structure

and reduce its labor and labor related costs and other discretionary spending including through the Companys

February and April 2009 reductions in workforce

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for executive finance legal

facilities human resources and information technology personnel as well as professional and compliance related

fees During the remainder of 2009 we expect general and administrative
expenses to decline from the current

le els primaril as result of the Companys reduction in its labor and labor related costs including through the

Companys February and April 2009 reductions in workforce

Stock-based Compensation

The Company records share-based compensation expense under the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No l23R SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment which establishes accounting for

equity instruments exchanged for employee services

Critical Accounting Policies

Soapstone considers the following accounting policies related to revenue recognition long-lived assets and

stock-based compensation to be critical accounting policies due to the estimation processes and judgments

involved in each The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and various other factors that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions
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Resenue Recognition

Consistent ith Statement of Position No 97-2 Soapstone recognized res enue from legacy router product sales

upon shipment or deliven to customers including resellers pros ided that purchase order has been receis ed or

contract has been executed there were no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance the sales price was

fixed or determinable and collectahility was deemed probable If uncertainties regarding customer acceptance

existed the Company recognized revenue when those uncertainties vere resolved For arrangements that

included the delivery of multiple elements revenue was allocated to the various elements based on vendor-

specific objective evidence of fair value VSOE The Company used the residual method when VSOE did not

exist for one of the delivered elements in an arrangement We generated revenue from support and maintenance

as well as installation and sen ice

We deferred revenue from support and maintenance contracts and recognized it ratably over the period of the

related agreements We recognited revenue from installation and other services as the work vas performed

Amounts collected or billed prior to satisfying the above revenue recognition criteria were recorded as deferred

revenue All revenue recognized has been from the Companys legacy router operation which is reflected as

discontinued operations In the future when the Compan commences commercial shipment of its new softs are

products if the Compan is unable to meet one or all of the aExve criteria on timel basis revenue recognized

for any reporting period could be adersely affected

Long-lived Assets

We review property plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of such an asset may not be recoverable Recoverability of these assets is measured by

comparison of their carrying amount to future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate over

the remaining economic life If such assets are considered to be impaired the impairment to be recognized in

earnings equals the amount by which the carning value of the assets exceeds their fair market value determined

by either quoted market price if any or value determined by utilizing discounted cash flow technique We

have recognized no material impairment adjustments related to our property plant and equipment Deterioration

in our business in the future could lead to impairment adjustments in future periods Esaluation of impairment of

long-lived assets requires estimates of future operating results that are used in the preparation of the expected

future undiscounted cash tiows tual future operating results and the remaining economic lies of our long-

lived assets could differ from the estimates used in assessing the recoerahility of these assets These differences

could result in impairment charges hich could have material atherse impact on our results of operations

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

In 2X we commenced accounting for emploee stock-based compensation costs in accordance with Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No l23R Share-Based Payment SFAS l23R We utilize the Black

Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair alue of employee stock based compensation at the date of

grant which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions including expected volatility and expected life

Further as required under SFAS 123R we estimate forfeitures for options granted which are not expected to

vest Changes in these inputs and assumptions can materially affect the measure of estimated fair value of our

stock-based compensation
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Results of Operations

Research and Development

Research and development expenses
increased $0.6 million to $4.2 million for the tirst quarter of 2009 from S3.6

million for the first quarter of 2008 The increase in the 2009 period compared to the 2008 period as due to

higher labor and labor related facility related and depreciation expenses primaril associated with increases in

our cost structure made over the course of 2008 partially offset by decrease in costs resulting from our

reduction in workforce in February 2009

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased Sl.0 million to $2.2 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $1.2

million for the first quarter of 2008 The increase in the 2009 period compared to the 2008 period was primarily

due to an increase in labor and labor related expenses
associated with increased investment in our sales and

marketing efforts made over the course of 2008 partially offset by decrease in costs resulting from our

reduction in workforce in February 2009

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased S0.4 million to SI .9 million for the first quarter of 2009 from SI.5

million for the first quarter of 2008 The increase in the 2009 period compared to the 2008 period was primarily

due to higher labor and labor related expenses and depreciation expenses partially offset by decrease in costs

resulting from our reduction in workforce in February 2009

Interest Income Net

Interest income decreased S0.7 million to $0.2 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $0.9 million for the first

quarter of 2008 Interest income decreased due to lower average interest rates in 2009 as well as lower invested

balance in the 2009 period

Discontinued Operations

The Company has exited the manufacture sale and support of router products making its last shipment in

December 2007 and providing related support only through the end of December 2008 Accordingly income

from discontinued operations decreased SI .8 million to S0.0 million for the first quarter of 2009 from SI .8

million for the first quarter of 2008

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception we have financed our operations through private sales of equity securities an initial public

offering in July 2000 and to lesser extent from the exercise of stock options by employees From inception

through March 31 2009 we raised approximately $427.7 million from these equity offerings During the first

three months of 2009 we used S6.7 million in cash from operating activities compared to generating Sl.9

million in the 2008 period The decrease in cash from operations in the 2009 period as compared to the

comparable 2008 period is primarily associated with transitioning away from all core router related activities

after 2008 We expect that in the future working capital requirements will fluctuate based on the timing and

magnitude of payments associated with our operating costs and future customer payment terms We have

undertaken initiati%es to realign our cost structure and reduce our labor and labor related costs In furtherance of

this initiative and in order to reduce expenses and conserve cash in the current economic environment without

diminishing the overall value of the Company we announced reductions in our total headcount in February and

April 2009
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Purchases of capital equipment decreased $0.5 million to SO million for the first three months of 2009

compared to S0.6 million for the same period in 2008 The timing and amount of future capital expenditures will

depend primarily on our requirements in the Soapstone business including related infrastructure costs We expect

that capital expenditures will be beteen $0.3 million to S0.5 million for the remainder of 2009

At March 31 2009 we had cash and cash equivalents of S76.3 million and short-term marketable securities of

S6.0 million totaling S82.3 million We believe that our existing cash cash equivalents and marketable securities

will meet our normal operating and capital expenditure needs beyond the next twelve months However we

could be required or could elect to raise additional funds during that period and we may need to raise additional

capital in the future We may not be able to obtain additional capital on terms favorable to us or at all due to

economic conditions and the early stage of the Soapstone products The issuance of additional equity or equity-

related securities would be dilutive to our stockholders If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms or at all we

may not be able to develop or enhance our Soapstone products or respond appropriately to competitive pressures

which would seriously limit our ability to increase our revenue and gro our business

Contractual Obligations

At March 31 2009 our contractual obligations which consist entirely of operating leases were as follows in

thousands

Operating
FIscal Year Leases

2009 remainder of ear 551

2010 635

2011

2012 692

2013 720

2014 680

Total future contractual commitments S3.941

Payments made under operating leases will be treated as rent expense for the facilities In addition associated

with the lease the Company is obligated to pay common area maintenance charges and real estate taxes which

could vary each year

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31.2009 we did not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303a4iiof
SEC Regulation S-K
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Factors That May Affect Future Results

This Form IO-Q contains forward-looking statements that are subject to the safe harbors created under the

Private Securities Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Any statements in this Form I0-Q that are not statements of

historical fact are fonard-looking statements that are subject to number ot Important risks assumptions and

uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materiall from those expressed in our forw ard-looking

statements The Compan may experience difficulties identifing analyzing and consummating strategic

alternatives and such alternatives may not lead to the achievement of desired results In addition the Soapstone

Networks business and market opportunity are at an early stage of development and accordingly estimates

projections and statements regarding our business products plans objectives and expected operating results and

the assumptions upon which those statements are based are forward-looking statements Specificall this

Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements relating to our engagement of an investment banker to

assist in our exploration of strategic alternaties the impact of our reductions in orkforce announced in

Februars 2009 and April 2009 technology trends and the development sue characteristics and growth of our

markets the Compan position in our markets the de elopment introduction and market acceptance of nev

products enhancements and services the development of direct sales force indirect sales channels and

technolog partnerships the expansion of customer relationships the addition of Soapstone customers the

expected operating results from our Soapstone business our ability to manage the transition of Our core router

business and our expectations regarding competition and technological change For more detailed description

of the risk factors assxiated with the Company please refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31.2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10 2009 and as

amended by the filing of the Amended Annual Report on Form lO-KJA on April 30 2009 We do not undertake

to update our forard-looking statements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2X7 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 tRevised 2007 Business Combinations SFAS 141R
SFAS 141R retains the fundamental requirements in FASB Statement 141 that the acquisition method of

accounting hich Statenient 141 called the purchase methxl be used for all business combinations and for an

acquirer to be identified for each business combination SFAS 141 requires an acquirer to recognlie
the assets

acquired the liabilities assumed and an non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date

measured at their fair values as of that date with limited exceptions specified in SFAS l4lR That replaces

FASB Statement l41s cost-alkxation process which required the cost of an acquisition to be alkated to the

individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values SFAS l4lR ill no
require acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred restructuring costs associated with business combination

must generall be expensed prior to the acquisition date and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances

and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense SFAS 141R

applies prospectivel to business combinations for shich the acquisition date is in fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2X8 Earlier adoption is prohibited The Compan adopted this pronouncement in the first quarter

of 2X9 The adoption of the provisions of SFAS 141R did not hase material impact on the Companys

financial position or results of operations

In December 2X7 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS l60 SFAS 160 clarifies that noncontroling or minority interest in subsidiary Is

considered an ownership interest and accordingly requires all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as

equit\ in the consolidated financial statements SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2X8 The Compan adopted this pronouncement in the first quarter of 2X9 The adoption of the

pros
isiuns of SF..\S 160 did not have material impact on the Compan financial position and results of

operations
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ITEM QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates We do not

use deriative financial instruments for speculatie or trading purposes

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We maintain an investment portfolio consisting mainly of investment grade money market funds corporate

obligations and federal agency obligations with weighted-average maturity of less than one sear These

held-to-maturity securities are subject to interest rate risk and will fall in alue if market interest rates increase If

market interest rates were to increase immediately and uniformly by ioc from the Ieels at March 31 2009 the

fair market alue of these investments would decline by an immaterial amount We have the ahilit to hold our

fixed income investments until maturity Therefore we ould not expect our operating results or cash tlos to

be affected to any significant degree by sudden change in market interest rates on our securities portfolio

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We operate primarily in the United States and international sales historicall hate been in U.S dollars and are

expected to continue in U.S dollars Accordingl there has not been any material exposure to foreign currency

rate fluctuations If we expand our presence in foreign markets and consummate sales denominated in foreign

currencies our exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations could be material in the future

The Company has no off balance sheet concentrations such as foreign exchange contracts option contracts or

other foreign hedging arrangements

ITEM CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

aluation of disclosure controls and procedures

The Compan under the supervision and with the participation of the Companys management including the

principal executive officer and principal financial officer has evaluated the effectiveness of the Compan
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report the Evaluation

Date pursuant to Rule 13a-15ib and 15d-15b promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended uhe Exchange Act Based on this evaluation the Companys principal executive officer and

pnncipal financial officer have concluded that as of the Evaluation Date the Compan disclosure controls and

procedures effectively ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings and submissions under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no changes in the Compan internal control over financial reporting during the Companys last

fiscal quarter that hae matenall affected or are reasonabl likely to materially affect the Companys internal

control over financial reporting
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Tsele purported securities class action lasuits ere filed against the Compan and one or more of the

Companys underwriters in its initial public offering and certain officers and directors of the Company The

Ia suits alleged violations of the federal securities laws and crc docketed in the U.S District Court for the

Southern District of Ne York uhe Court as Felen et Avid Systems Inc. et a. C.A

No OI-CV-3363 Lefkosit eta Avici Systems Inc. en al. CA No 0l-CV-354l Lewis et aI Avici

Systems Inc. eta. CA No 0I-CV-3698 Mande en Avici Systems Inc. et aI. CA No 0l-CV-37l3

Minai et al Avici Systems Inc. en a. C..A No 0l-CV-3870 Steinberg et al Avid Systems Inc. et al.

CA No Ol-CV-3983 Pelissier et al ..Avici Systems Inc. eta. C.A No 0l-CV-42 Esther et al Avici

Sstems Inc. eta. CA No Ol-CV-4352 Zhous et al Avici Systems Inc eta. CA No Ol-CV-4494

Mammen et Avici Systems Inc. et a. C.A No Ol-CV-5722 Lin et Avici Systems Inc. et al.

C.A No 0I-CV-5674 and Shives eta Banc of America Securities eta. C.A No Ol-CV-4956 On

April 19 2002 consolidated amended class action complaint the Complaint shich superseded these tele

purported securities class action la suits was filed in the Court The Complaint is captioned in re Avici

Systems Inc Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 21 MC 92.01 Civ 3363 SAS and names as

defendants the Compan certain of the undenriters of the Companys initial public offering and certain of the

Companys officers and directors The Complaint which seeks unspecified damages alleges violations of the

federal securities lass including among other things that the underwriters of the Companys initial public

offering lPO improperl required their customers to pay the underwriters excessive commissions and to agree

to bu additional shares of stock in the aftermarket as conditions of receiving shares in the Companys IPO The

Complaint further claims that these supposed practices of the underwriters should have been disclosed in the

Compans IPO prospectus and registration statement In addition to the Complaint against the Company

various other plaintiffs have filed other substantially similar class action cases against approximately 300 other

publicl traded companies and their IPO underwriters in New York City which along with the case against the

Compan hae been transferred to single federal district judge for purposes of case management The

Company and its officers and directors believe that the claims against the Company lack merit and have

defended the litigation vigorously In that regard on July 15 2002 the Company together with the other issuers

named as defendants in these cxrdinated proceedings filed collective motion to dismiss the consolidated

amended complaints against them on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants

On October 2002 the Court dismissed without prejudice all claims against the individual current and former

officers and directors who were named as defendants in our litigation and they are no longer parties to the

lawsuit On February 19 2003 the Court issued its ruling on the motions to dismiss filed by the issuer defendants

and separate motions to dismiss filed by the underwriter defendants In that ruling the Court granted in part and

denied in part those motions As to the claims brought against the Company under the antifraud provisions of the

securities laws the Court dismissed all of these claims with prejudice and refused to allow the plaintiffs an

opportunity to re-plead these claims against the Company As to the claims brought under the registration

provisions of the securities laws which do not require that intent to defraud be pleaded the Court denied the

motion to dismiss these claims as to the Company and as to substantially all of the other issuer defendants as

well The Court also denied the underwriter defendants motion to dismiss in all respects

In June 2003 the Compan elected to participate in proposed settlement agreement with the plaintiffs in this

litigation If the proposed settlement had been approved by the Court it would have resulted in the dismissal

with prejudice of all claims in the litigation against the Company and against any of the other issuer defendants

who elected to participate in the proposed settlement together with the current or former officers and directors of

participating issuers who were named as individual defendants This proposed settlement was conditioned on

among other things ruling by the District Court that the claims against the Compan and against the other

issuers ho had agreed to the settlement ould be certified for class action treatment for purposes of the

proposed settlement such that all inestors included in the proposed classes in these cases would be bound by the

terms of the settlement unless an in estor opted to be excluded from the settlement
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On December 2006 the U.S Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit issued decision that six purported class

action lawsuits containing allegations substantially similar to those asserted against the Company may not be

certified as class actions due in part to the Appeals Courts determination that individual issues of reliance and

knowledge would predominate over issues common to the proposed classes On January 2X7 the plaintiffs

filed petition seeking rehearing en banc of this ruling On April 2007 the Court of Appeals denied the

plaintiffs petition for rehearing of the Courts December 2006 ruling but noted that the plaintiffs remained

free to ask the District Court to certify classes different from the ones originally proposed which might meet the

standards for class certification that the Court of Appeals articulated in its December 2006 decision

In light of the Court of Appeals December 2006 decision regarding certification of the plaintiffs claims the

District Court entered an order on June 25 2007 terminating the proposed settlement between the plaintiffs and

the issuers including the Company On August 14 2007 the plaintiffs filed amended complaints in the six focus

cases On November 13 2007 the issuer defendants and the underwriter defendants separately moved to dismiss

the claims against them in the amended complaints in the six focus cases On March 26 2008 the District Court

issued an order in which it denied in substantial part the motions to dismiss the amended complaints in the six

focus cases

On February 25 2009 the parties advised the District Court that they have reached an agreement-in-principle to

settle the litigation in its entirety stipulation of settlement was filed with the District Court on April 2009

The proposed global settlement remains subject to preliminary and final approval by the District Court While we

can make no promises or guarantees as to the outcome of these proceedings the Company does not believe that

loss is probable or reasonably estimable as of the balance sheet dare

In addition the Company received letters dated July 13 2007 and July 25 2007 from putative shareholder

demanding that the Company investigate and prosecute claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of

Section 16h of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 by the underwriters of its IPO and certain unidentified

directors officers and shareholders of the Company The Company evaluated the demand and declined to

prosecute the claim On October 2007 the putative shareholder commenced civil lawsuit in the U.S District

Court for the Western District of Washington against the lead underwriters of the Companys IPO alleging

violations of Section 16b The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares of the Companys
common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriters and certain unnamed officers directors and principal

shareholders exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of the Companys IPO on

July 28 2000 through at least July 27 2001 It further alleges that those entities and individuals were thus

subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16a and the short-swing trading prohibition of Section 16b
and failed to comply with those provisions The complaint seeks to recover from the lead underwriters any

short-swing profits obtained by them in violation of Section 16b The Company was named as nominal

defendant in the action but has no liability for the asserted claims No directors or officers of the Company are

named as defendants in this action On October 29 2007 the case was reassigned to Judge James Robart along

with similar cases involving the IPOs of 53 other issuers These 54 actions were consolidated for pre-trial

purposes On February 27 2008 the putative shareholder filed an Amended Complaint asserting substantiall

similar claims as those set forth in the initial complaint On Jul 25 2008 the Conipany joined with 29 other

issuers to file with the Court the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to dismiss The plaintiff filed her opposition to

this motion on September 2008 and the Issuer Defendants Reply in Support of Their Joint Motion to Dismiss

was filed on October 23 2008

On March 12 2X9 Judge Rohart granted the Issuer Defendants Joint Motion to Dismiss dismissing the

complaint without prejudice on the grounds that the plaintiff had failed to make an adequate demand on the

Company prior to filing her complaint In its order the Court stated it would not permit the plaintiff to amend her

demand letters while pursuing her claims in the litigation Because the Court dismissed the case on the grounds

that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction it did not specifically reach the issue of whether the plaintiffs claims

were barred by the applicable statute of limitations However the Court also granted the Underwriters Joint
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Motion to Dismiss with respect to cases involving non-moving issuers holding that the cases were barred by the

applicable statute of limitations because the issuers shareholders had notice of the potential claims more than

five years prior to filing suit

The plaintiff filed Notice of Appeal on April 10 2009 The plaintiffs opening brief in the appeal is currently

due on July 27 2009 ith the Company and the underwriters responses due on August 25 2009 The plaintiff

may file reply brief on September 2009 The Company believes that the outcome of this litigation will not

ha material adverse impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

In addition we are subject to legal proceedings claims and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of

business such as but not limited to patent employment commercial and environmental matters Although there

can be no assurance there are no such matters pending that we expect to be material with respect to our business

financial position or results of operations

ITEM IA RISK FACTORS

There are no material changes to the risk factors described in the Risk FactorsS section in our Annual Report on

hrrn 10-K for the fiscal sear ended December 31 2008 filed with the SEC on March 10 2009 and as amended

by the filing of the Amended Annual Report on Form lU-K/A on April 30 2009



ITEM EXHIBITS

List of Exhibits

Exhibit

No Exhibit Description

31.1 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of 2002

31.2 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duh caused this report to

be signed on its behalf hs the undersigned thereunto dul authorized

SOAPSTONE NETWORKS INC

Date April 30 2009 By 1sf William Stuart

William Stuart

Chief Financial Officer

Duly Authorized Officer and Principal

Financial Officer
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